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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM"”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics
of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated
by the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in
gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to
the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

"Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this document.”

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of SMI Publishing Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given incompliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading; (i) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement in this report misleading; and (iii) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due
and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Director’s Statement

EERES

| have pleasure in presenting the business operation report and the
audited financial statements of SMI Publishing Group Limited (the
“Company"”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group"”) for the financial
year ended 31 March 2008.

Although the financial year ended 31 March 2008 was still a difficult
year as the Group had continued to record a decline in turnover, it
had recorded a decline in gross loss as compared with that of the
last financial year as a result of a reduction in the costs of newspaper
publication. Accordingly, the Group’s net loss for the financial year
under review had improved significantly.

Looking ahead, the Group is still facing severe competitions from
the challenges of free-of-charge newspapers and other competitors.

Apart from the continuous efforts to monitor the market, restructure
and streamline the business operations as and when necessary so
as to improve the current financial status of the Group and enhance
the business performance, the Management is actively looking for
business opportunities to expand the Group's businesses as well as
widening the income streams of the Group’s business operations.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude and
appreciation to our management teams, staff members, fellow
shareholders, customers and business partners for their continuous
contributions and support in the Group.

On behalf of the Board
Yu Wau Ying Sammy
Director, CEO

Hong Kong, 5 February 2009
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. QIN Hong, aged 37, was appointed as the Chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 13 April 2006. He is also the
Chairman of Stellar Megaunion Corporation, a PRC incorporated
company, the A-shares of which are traded on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He holds a degree from university and has over 9 years
experience in the media and telecommunication industry in the
People’s Republic of China. He is the younger brother of Mr. QIN
Hui who is the 100% beneficial owner of Strategic Media
International Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. WANG Fei, aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 25 July 2006. He holds a degree from Peking
University. He has been working for an internationally renowned
foreign owned conglomerate established in Beijing in legal and
management aspects.

Mr. WONG Yue Kwan, Alan, aged 41, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 8 May 2008. He has
accumulated over 10 years of experience in management of business
trade and project investments.

Mr. YU Wai Ying, Sammy, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 8 May 2008. He has accumulated over
30 years of experience in coaching and management of football
clubs and the post various from First Team Coach to Head Coach
and Manager. He also has experiences in hosting sport programs
and commentating football matches for TVB, ATV, Cable TV and
Star TV.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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Biographical Information of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHI Bin Hai, aged 46, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director of the Company in April 2004 and resigned
due to personal reasons on 13 August 2008. He graduated in 1983
with a law degree of Hua Dong Zheng Fa Xue Yuan and has over
20 years' experience in media business of the PRC. He has been a
chief editor and senior reporter of various prestige newspapers since
1983.

Mr. YAN Chun, aged 46, was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 29 September 2004 and
resigned on 25 April 2008. He graduated from Renmin University
of China and has about 20 years' experience in newspaper
publication. Currently, He is the deputy general manager of Beijing
Youth Report Xiao Hong Mao Publishing Company.

Mr. Jiang Jin Sheng, aged 53, was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 20 April 2007. He
graduated from Zhong Yang Guang Bo Dian Shi University in the
People’s Republic of China majoring in Corporate Management.
He has been working in Wuhan City Synthetic Fiber Factory, chief
inspector in the import and export department of Shenzhen Shenhau
Industrial Commercial Development Limited, and as controller of
the administrative department in Shenzhen Sheng Ting Yuan
Investment Limited. He has extensive expensive in corporate
management.
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Mr. Kong Tze Wing, aged 57, was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of the Company on 20 April 2007. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 1985 and became a fellow member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant in 1995. He became
an ACA of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales in October 2004. He was a former Vice President and Former
Chairman of Mainland Affairs Committee of Hong Kong Institute
of Accredited Accounting Technicians. He is also the Hon. President
of The Institute of Financial Accountants in Hong Kong. He has
been a Certified Public Accountants since 1981. He holds a bachelor
degree in Accounting and a bachelor degree in Business
Administration. He is a sole practitioner of the firm Messrs. James
T. W. Kong & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising). He was
an elected District Board member since 1991 and is currently an
elected District Council member. He is actively participating in
community services and has been appointed by the Hong Kong
SAR Government to sit on various committees and appeal boards
in Hong Kong.

Mr. WONG Ching Yip, aged 36, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 8 May 2008. He has
accumulated over 10 years of work experience in sales and
marketing. He holds a B. A. Double degree in Business
Administration and Economics.

Mr. HUNG Yat Ming, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 8 May 2008. He has
accumulated over 20 years of work experience in accounting, hotel
investment, property investment, management of business trade
and project investments, in both private and listed companies. He
is an associate member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited (Stock code: 292) and Asia Orient
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 214), both companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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Management Discussion & Analysis

BEEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 March 2008 was
approximately HK$48,558,000, a decrease of approximately
HK$19,196,000 or 28.33% compared with approximately
HK$67,754,000 for the previous year.

Loss attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the year ended
31 March 2008 was approximately HK$50,665,000, a decrease of
approximately HK$54,180,000 or 51.68% compared with
approximately HK$104,845,000 for the previous year. The
substantial decrease in loss for the year was due to decreases in
cost of sales and administrative expenses.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2008, the Group did not maintain sufficient liquid
funds and had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$88,482,000 (2007: approximately HK$105,549,000). The net
current liabilities as at 31 March 2008 comprises of cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$565,000 (2007: approximately
HK$2,026,000).

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s total loans and borrowings were
amounted approximately to HK$255,952,000 (2007: approximately
HK$225,693,000).
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Management Discussion & Analysis
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, while expansion of readership segments is difficult
due to the existence of free-of-charge newspapers, the Group is
exploring the business of being a subcontractor of other publishers
with the purpose of diversification for drawing new source of
income.

Apart from the continuous efforts to monitor the market
development, restructure and streamline the business operations
as and when necessary so as to improve the current financial status
of the Group and enhance the business performance, the
management of the Company is actively looking for business
opportunities to expand the Group’s businesses as well as widening
the income streams of the Group’s business operations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

There were no pledge of assets of the Company during the year
(2007: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities are set out in note 30 of the financial
statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil).

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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Management Discussion & Analysis
BEEEN®R DN

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had 124 employees (2007: 277).
Employee remuneration, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the
year ended 31 March 2008 is approximately HK$29,843,000 (2007:
approximately HK$60,992,000). The remuneration packages of the
Group’s employees are rewarded on individual performance-related
basis and by reference to the market conditions.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Company (“2008 AGM")
will be held on 15 May 2009.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2009 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 13 May
2009 to Friday, 15 May 2009, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. All transfers
accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged with the
Company'’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Rooms
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 12 May 2009.
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Directors’ Report
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The Directors submit herewith their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company with its shares
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 is set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 37 of the annual
report.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2008.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 28(c) and 31
respectively to the accompanying financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 28(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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Directors’ Report

ESEHRES

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
18 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the five largest customers and
the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
73% and 66% respectively, of the Group’s turnover. The purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest
supplier of the Group were approximately 99% and 78%
respectively, of the Group’s purchase.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their
associates (within the meaning of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“the GEM Listing
Rules”) nor those shareholders which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% in the Company’s share capital had
any interest in the five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS X

The Directors of the Company in office during the year and up to  RFRANREEAHRE BEETIANGE
the date of this report are as follows: EZ AT

Executive Directors HITES

QIN Hong (Chairman)

H
H M
f
&

WANG Fei
Hao Bin (resigned on 10 October 2007) ™» W (R=ZEZLF
+A+HED
WONG Yue Kwan, Alan (appointed on 8 May 2008) FHH (RZZZNF
FANBEZRT)
YU Wai Ying, Sammy (appointed on 3 September 2008) RIER (RZEBEENF
(Chief Executive Officer) (T 48 %) NWA=BEZT)
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
SHI Bin Hai (resigned on 13 August 2008) i Wish RZZEZENF
NA+=BET)
YAN Chun (resigned on 25 April 2008) B & RZZEZENF
MA=+HBEHE)
JIANG Jin Sheng (appointed on 20 April 2007) L (RZETLF
MA-+HEEZT)
KONG Tze Wing (appointed on 20 April 2007) TF48 (RZZTZT+F
MA-+HEEZMT)
WONG Ching Yip (appointed on 3 September 2008) T 1R RZZEZENF
NA=BHEZT)
HUNG Yat Ming (appointed on 3 September 2008) #HA RZZEZENF
NA=BERT)
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Directors’ Report

ESEHRES

DIRECTOR SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors of the Company being proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2008, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register of the Company required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company
or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors,
their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ Report

ESEHRES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2008, the persons or corporations (not beinga R-ZENF=A=+—0 - BEESH
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or N B & 1&HIEXVERSE2 K 30 ERA R AR
short positions (directly or indirectly) in the shares or underlying A& 5 MILZER &5 M B S 15715336
shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company {&FEFRAEERREXEMNT AR
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or &) * FH| AT AE (LI FEEHARN
who are substantial shareholders required to be kept under Section Al BT A B) # A AR alf% 17 sk 48
336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company were as  BR% D Z HEZF Sk A (H# R E#E) 10
follows: N

Approximate
No. of shares of  percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity the Company held shareholding
BEAQT BARER
REREHE 4 BB B BOk
QIN Hui Held by controlled 261,473,945 26.37%
Corporation (Note 1)
E OB okt N o ) 261,473,945 26.37%
(Btat1)
Held by controlled 1,000,000,000 100.84%
Corporation (Note 2)
ok N v 1,000,000,000 100.84%
(Ktzt2)
Strategic Media International Beneficial owner 261,473,945 26.37%
Limited (Note 1)
ERFEAA 261,473,945 26.37%
(Btat1)
Beneficial owner 1,000,000,000 100.84%
(Note 2)
BERFEAA 1,000,000,000 100.84%
(Ktzt2)
LAM Ka Chung William Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Corporation (Note 3)
KR okt N o £ 71,873,415 7.25%
(B1at3)
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No. of shares of

Approximate
percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity the Company held shareholding

BEXLQT BARR

RERERE 56 RDEE Btk

LAM Wong Yuk Sin Mary Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Corporation (Note 3)

MEEK REH AR 2w 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)

CHOI Koon Shum Jonathan Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Corporation (Note 3)

R S VNI 2 71,873,415 7.25%
(Ffat3)

KWAN Wing Kum Janice Held by spouse 71,873,415 7.25%
(Note 3)

BRE AoiB 2 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)

Kingsway International Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Holdings Limited Corporation (Note 3)

S VNI 71,873,415 7.25%
(Ffat3)

Innovation Assets Limited Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Corporation (Note 3)

REHRAR 2 Ew 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)

World Developments Limited Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Corporation (Note 3)

S VNI o 71,873,415 7.25%
(Ffat3)

SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Limited Corporation (Note 3)

[EESRERERAT REH AR 2w 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)

CETZNFER e EXHBREBMERDA
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Approximate
No. of shares of  percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity the Company held shareholding
BEAXRLTH AR
REREH 56 RDEE Btk
Kingsway China Holdings Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Limited Corporation (Note 3)
REH AR 2w 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)
Festival Developments Held by controlled 71,873,415 7.25%
Limited Corporation (Note 3)
S VNI o 71,873,415 7.25%
(Ffat3)
Kingsway Lion Spur Beneficial owner 71,873,415 7.25%
Technology Limited (Note 3)
EaEBAA 71,873,415 7.25%
(HfaE3)
JIAQ Erli Beneficial owner 93,000,000 9.38%
(Note 4)
EHEERA 93,000,000 9.38%
(Ftata)
SINA Corporation Beneficial owner 51,769,817 5.22%
(Note 4)
ExEBAA 51,769,817 5.22%
(Hfz4)
PENG Chi Hui Beneficial owner 50,000,000 5.04%
(Note 4)
ZRiE EHEERA 50,000,000 5.04%
(Ftata)
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Notes:

1.

Save

Strategic Media International Limited is wholly owned by Mr. QIN Hui.

These 1,000,000,000 underlying shares are derived from the 1.5%
HK$50,000,000 convertible note issued by the Company to Strategic Media
International Limited on 30 April 2005 for a term of 2 years convertible into
shares at the conversion price of HK$0.05 per shares.

Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Limited (“KLST") is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Festival Developments Limited (“FDL"). FDL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Kingsway China Holdings Limited (“KCH"). KCH is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (“SWK"), the entire issued share
capital of which is listed on the Main Board. SWK is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of World Developments Limited (“WDL"). WDL is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Innovation Assets Limited (“IAL"). IAL is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Kingsway International Holdings Limited (“KIH"), which is listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange. By virtue of the SFO, FDL, KCH, SWK, WDL, IAL and KIH are
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which KLST is interested.

Mr. LAM Ka Chung William and Madam LAM Wong Yuk Sin Mary, the spouse
of Mr. Lam, hold more than one-third interest in KIH. By virtue of the SFO, both
Mr. and Madam Lam are deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which KIH
is interested.

Mr. CHOI Koon Shum Jonathan holds more than one-third interest in KIH. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Choi is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
KIH is interested. Madam KWAN Wing Kum Janice, the spouse of Mr. Choi, is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Choi is interested.

Mr. JIAO Erli, SINA Corporation and Mr. PENG Chi Hui are independent third
parties (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules).

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, the Directors are not

aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying Shares of the Company

that

was required to be recorded in the register under Section 336

of the SFO.

ez -

1. Strategic Media International Limited fq &
FEDERE °

2. &t% 000,000,000% A8 B8R 96T 4 B 2K

NAINZZEZRF M A=+ HMmStrategic

Media International Limited® 1 A HAR F &)

1.5%75%50,000,0007T A] LA R (B =A%
#0.05 T ER AR 17 B T AR SRR ©

3. Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Limited
(TKLST]) JyFestival Developments Limited
([FDL]) Z 2 &HKIE2A 7] » FDLTYKingsway
China Holdings Limited ([KCH]) 2 2 &I /&
AT KCHIYEE @ iR AR AR ([EE
wE) 2 2EMBAR  BEEEmc2E
BT EHIR LT - [E= @/ JyWorld
Developments Limited ([WDL]) 2 32 & Kt
B7A7F] - WDL 3Innovation Assets Limited
(NMALD Z 2 EMBRA] < IALRZ Mm% E
%X 5P EmZKingsway International
Holdings Limited ([KIH]) 2 2 & @A A
IRIREH R EAE&H] - FDL - KCH ~ [EE®
&~ WDL ~ IALRKIHIG AR R AKLSTHE A #E

w2 FTERG R AR

MRBIEERMEERL T MEEZERB)
BEKH=9 27— L2 #5 - RIEFHK
EEIRDI - PRI A R Z AR AFKIH
HHREZ TERDPHEER -

ERREEBEKH=Z 2 — A L2 -
IRIEFE S REE GG - 225 AR AFKIH
HHER RN PHEEER - BEELR
T B EREZEAB) WA AR A A
LB RE R o

4. JIAO Erlift 4 ~ SINA Corporation M E2 8 #E %t
£V B EE (E& Ral ¥k BT
A1) e

B EXFIEEEIN RZEENF=A
=t+—H" Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁi‘ﬂm eI A
fth A £ A RIRZBIRIEE H K HE K5
%3361|m2§paﬂﬁfﬁ%naﬁzm A%
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACT

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, which directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31
March 2008 or any time during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of Directors or the management shareholders of the Company
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business
which cause or may cause significant competition with the business
of the Group.

CONVERTIBLE NOTE

Details of convertible note of the Group are set out in note 27 to
the financial statements.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

The Company has complied with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules
concerning Board practices and procedures throughout the year.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTING
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set forth on page 136 of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee was established to review the Group’s financial
reporting, internal controls, corporate governance and risk
management matters and to make relevant recommendation to
the Board. The Audit Committee comprises all of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Messrs. WONG Ching Yip (as the
chairman of the Audit Committee), HUNG Yat Ming, JIANG Jin
Sheng and KONG Tze Wing.

During the year, the Audit Committee performed duties including
reviewing the Group’s financial statements, audit findings, external
auditors’ independence and the Group’s accounting principles and
practices.

The Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2008 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that the financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 comply with applicable
accounting standards, GEM Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 March 2008.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands, which

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the significant subsequent events are set out in note 36
to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The financial statements were audited by CCIF CPA Limited.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited as auditors of the Company.

SMI Publishing Group Limited
Yu Wai Ying Sammy
Director

Hong Kong, 5 February 2009

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008

BB E

REANR 2ABERANLHASES
RS - AR SRR 2 ARFA R A
RAEIARABEREHRZEM L PIBCED
FAD o

HERKER

RBEBR 2 EBREEFAIIN M EHRRH
36

3 4l

PR RIS R E IS SR BT A R
NAJERZ

ARBRREREBRBERSG LIR2—
BRBRR  BERESSHMERMA
HEYNCIVEZAYNCIEPE - Gl

EXHREEBRAF
EE
RIER

& —ETNF-_AERA



Corporate Governance Report
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The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in enhancing the shareholders’
value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions as set out in Appendix 15:
“The Code on Corporate Governance Practices” (the “CG Code")
of the GEM Listing Rules, except for the following:

1. Due to practical reasons, 14 days’ advanced notifications have
not been given to all meetings of the board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”). Reasons have been given in the
notifications in respect of those meetings of the Board where
it is not practical to give 14 days’ advanced notification. The
Board will use its best endeavours to give 14 days’ advanced
notifications of board meeting to the extent practicable (Code
Provisions A.1.3);

2. The Group has commenced to review its internal control systems
in September 2007 which is still in progress. The review is aimed
at designing appropriate internal control policies and
procedures for the Group with a view to ensure compliance of
the GEM Listing Rules as well as the Principles and Code
Provision (Code Provision C.2.1);

RRRBOHR R 2 BEREATRER
BF - MERKESHZTEM - EH
EREE  EtmizaBREE -

@i:%;AEE —t+—HIFE
W AR R —EIEBSFEIER AR AT
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1. BREBREZR  RERAQRES
g((ELg)NAEgEATTH
RZIBRIANE - AETAIITHIER
TMARRELAL T TR ZIRAIAEH
EHEES SR  TRSEEMNA
SRUAGLTIER  ESEHIEEM
BERMESEEERA T TIURIERA
g (SFRIEXAN3)

2. AEER-_ZTLFNACHER
RERBEIEFIE - MR IhE
EITH - ZREMBENER /NS
%] 4 il & 18 # PO B BE PR BUR AR
Fr > AREERIE ST RIS AR EMAR Bl K
STAINMESC (SFRMEXC.2.1)
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3. The Board has engaged an independent consultant to conduct
a review of the internal control system of the Group and to
assist the Group to design appropriate internal control policies
and procedures with a view to ensure compliance of the GEM
Listing Rules as well as the Principles and Code Provision (Code
Provision C.2.1);

4. Non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement at the first general meeting
after their appointment and thereafter to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and in accordance with the
Articles (Code Provision A.4.1);

5. No nomination committee was established to review the
structure, size and composition of the board on a regular basis
(Code Provision A.4.4).

Save as those mentioned above, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the year ended 31 March 2008.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standards of dealings
regarding securities transactions by Directors as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.69 of the GEM Listing Rules. All of the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards as
set out in the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the EEE@BEBENEHIAQT @ WEE
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions ~ ANEE R « RESRFNKIR - EFE
and performance. The senior management were delegated with RTFEfEEEAEAEEHELEY
the authority and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day BENEE WA TEZEHAKES
operations of the Group while reserving certain key matters for the ~ &H#tff o 4 - EEGNMIREETBE
approval of the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated E€ETZHEKE - EHZELES
various responsibilities to the Board Committees. Further details of i —ZFFHIEH R AN o

these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors including four EFEREHN\ZESLAK - BIENE
executive Directors and five independent non-executive Directors:  HITEE R ALBY IFMITESE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. QIN Hong (Chairman) g REkEFE)

Mr. YU Wai Ying, Sammy (Chief Executive Officer) RIBRE A (TTHAER)
Mr. WANG Fei T MRELE

Mr. Wong Yue Kwan, Alan THR\LE
Independent non-executive Directors B FHITES

Mr. JIANG Jin Sheng THEESAE

Mr. KONG Tze Wing TFEREA

Mr. Wong Ching Yip T IFEESR A&

Mr. Hung Yat Ming AR AL

CET)\FEFER . 2EHREMERAT 25
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The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships with each other. A balanced Board
composition is formed to ensure the existence of a strong
independency across the Board and to meet with the recommended
practice under the CG Code for the Board to have at least one-
third of its members comprises of independent non-executive
Directors. The biographical information of the Directors are set out
on page 6 of the annual report under the section headed
“Biographical Information of Directors”.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The two positions are held separately by two individuals to ensure
their respective independencies, accountabilities and responsibilities.
Mr. QIN Hong, being the Chairman, is in-charge with the leadership
of the Board and strategies planning of the Group. Mr. Yu Wai
Ying, Sammy, being the Chief Executive Officer, being, is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

Independent non-executive Directors

The four independent non-executive Directors are persons of high
calibre. With their experiences gained from various sectors, they
provide strong supports towards the effective discharge of their
duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each independent non-
executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence
to the Company, and the Company considers them to be
independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EFRERBCEBMEYS X5 RE
S EMEANMERERR o X —(ESE
MEFEEERREZTS ZREEL
o XNEEEEARTIHESTEKE
BRI =ZD 2 REBUIFNTES 2
EEHH c EEEMFNFRFCHIES
Bt —&h e

EERITHHAE

%A BB AT RIFEE - #ER
REXBZBLM  HMAEMRARS -
ITRERELERRREESTENALHE
ZREERE  THARRERELRR
AEEXRBZATER -

BAFHTES

MABYFFATESHATREEB A
T BRERSNETEXRR &R
A RAMEITESE 2B MBERM
BASR - BRUIFNTESOREE
VHAARARBBFERRE - AR
AIRREFBEIFER EHARRF5.09
RN 2 AT e



Corporate Governance Report
TEXERBE

The independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a B JFITEE I IFIRIEEEHIR(T -

specific term but are subject to retirement at the first general meeting BN HEEZ (TR Bz B AREAS
after their appointment and thereafter subject to retirement by E%E - EZRIEMAIBE=-F2
rotation at least once every three years and in accordance with the {E&R—X °

Articles.

Board Meetings EEEER

There were total of 28 Board meetings held during the year. ZZEWNFRNELE/T2802:% - ERIE
Attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings held during ERFEREFEHLT

the year:

Number of attendance
Name of Director EENE H R E
Mr. QIN Hong (Note 1) B R%&AE (K1) 4/8
Mr. WANG Fei (Note 2) T WEAE BE2) 6/8
Mr. HAO Bin (Note 3) ™M WhkLE BaE3) 0/5
Mr. SHI Bin Hai (Note 4) W B8 e (Hat4) 7/8
Mr. YAN Chun (Note 5) B &HiLaE (Hits5) 0/8
Mr. JIANG Jin Sheng (Note 6) ZELE L E (Hate) 2/7
Mr. KONG Tze Wing (Note 7) TFE&R%AE (H7E7) 477
Notes: Bt -

1 Mr. QIN Hong was appointed as Chairman and executive director on 13 April 1 BRAENZZZFNA+=-REZEAR

2006. TREBITESE -
2 Mr. WANG Fei was appointed as executive director on 25 July 2006. 2 IREENR-ZERFLA-THHEEZAE
RPITES -

3 Mr. HAO Bin was appointed as executive director and chief executive officeron 3 HWHAER-_TETNFRA+_AEZTA
12 May 2006 and resigned on 10 October 2007. PITEERITBEE - MR T EF+A
THEBHERITES RITBURE -

4 Mr. SHI Bin Hai was appointed as independent non-executive directoron 6 4  ESLAER - EZNEN A/ NAERITA

April 2004 and resigned on 13 August 2008. BYFBITES - RRZZEZENFNRT=
HErEE L IEMITES -
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5 Mr. YAN Chun was appointed as independent non-executive director on 29
September 2004 and resigned on 25 April 2008.

6 Mr. Jiang Jin Sheng was appointed as independent non-executive director on
20 April 2007.

7 Mr. KONG Tze Wing was appointed as independent non-executive director on
20 April 2007.

The Company planned in advance four scheduled Board meetings
a year at approximately quarterly intervals in order to make sure all
Directors could plan in advance their availabilities to attend the
scheduled Board meetings. Additional meetings will be held as and
when required.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled to
have access to Board papers and related materials and has
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if
so required.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with an overall responsibility of devising the
Company'’s system of internal controls and conducting an annual
review of its effectiveness. This ensures that the Board oversees
and monitors the Group’s overall financial position so that the
interests of the shareholders are well protected and covered. The
system of internal controls covers the areas of financial, operational,
compliance and risk management of the Group’s business.
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With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
of and dissemination of price-sensitive information:

—  the Group is fully aware of its obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules;

- the Group conducts its affairs with close regards to the “Guide
on Disclosure of Price-sensitive information” issued by the Stock
Exchange; and

— through channels such as financial reporting and public
announcements, the Group has implemented and disclosed
its policy on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusionary
distribution of information to the public.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference. The Audit Committee currently comprises
four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Messrs. WONG
Ching Yip (as the chairman of the Audit Committee), HUNG Yat
Ming, JIANG Jin Sheng and KONG Tze Wing.

The main functions of the Audit Committee is to recommend to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors; to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors as well as any questions of
resignation or dismissal of such auditors; to review the quarterly,
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and to
oversee the Company’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures.

The Group’s audited financial results for the twelve months ended
31 March 2008 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. Terms
of reference adopted by the Audit Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take
into account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership
and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their experience
in the media industry and/or other professional area.

Furthermore, as the full Board is responsible for the selection and
approval of candidate for appointment as Director to the Board,
therefore the Company has not established a nomination committee
for the time being.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established the remuneration committee
("Remuneration Committee”) on 27 July 2005.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration system of the
Company with written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Messrs. WONG Ching Yip (as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee), HUNG Yat Ming, JIANG Jin Sheng
and KONG Tze Wing.

During the year under review, no Remuneration Committee meeting
has been held.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 January 2002.
The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Board, at
its discretion, to grant options to eligible participants, including the
Directors, as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group.

Details of the share option scheme are set out in the Directors’
Report and note 31 to the financial statements. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.
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AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor, is set
out below:

B ETE &

REREEE - BEARRZEEIFTRM
2 BRI M IEE LIRS 2 B2 # 4N
T

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FriR LR & 2N ENER
HK$'000
EMEF T
Audit services FET IR 900
Non-audit services IEFTIRTE 48
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL EEZ=YEKHE2ST

STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and in representing
the quarterly and annual financial statements, and announcements
to shareholders, the Directors aims to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's position and
prospects.

The Directors’ responsibilities in preparing financial statements and
the auditors’ responsibilities are set out in the Auditors’ Report on
pages 32 and 36 of this annual report respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SMI PUBLISHING GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of SMI Publishing Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
37 to 135, which comprise the consolidated and Company balance
sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Except for the limitations in the scope of our work as explained
below, we conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement. However, because of the matters
described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide
a basis for an audit opinion.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(1) Scope limitation — Prior year’s audit scope limitation
affecting opening balance and comparative figures

As shown in our previous independent auditor’s report, we
made qualifications on the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007 on our
disagreement with the Group’s accounting treatment in its
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2006 of
consolidating R 77 N EMBIRRH AR R E ([RAE])
and the effects on the balances brought forward as at 1 April
2006 and the comparative figures included in the 2007 financial
statements. As disclosed in note 29(b) to the financial
statements, the Group deconsolidated /7] on 1 April
2006 and recognised a gain of approximately HK$2,225,000.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(2)

3)

Scope limitation — Insufficient evidence for certain
expenditures

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging legal and
professional fees of approximately $952,000 and transportation
charges of $1,159,000 in respect of which we have not been
provided with sufficient appropriate evidences to enable us to
verify the correctness and fairness of these expenditures.
Accordingly, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether
these expenditures are fairly stated in the consolidated financial
statements.

Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

In forming our opinion, we have considered the adequacy of
the disclosures made in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which describes the liquidity issues and financial
difficulties experienced by the Group and the proposed
measures to be taken by the Group to ensure that adequate
cash resources are available to the Group. Specifically, the Group
is dependent upon the continuing financial support of a
substantial shareholder. On the assumption that there will be
successful outcome of the measures proposed to be taken the
directors consider that the Group will be able to meet in full its
financial obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(3) Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
continuing financial support from a substantial shareholder and
the successful outcome of the proposed measures to ensure
that adequate cash resources are available to meet the Group’s
future working capital and funding requirements. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that may be
necessary should the implementation of the proposed measures
be unsuccessful. We consider that appropriate disclosures have
been made. However, in view of the material extent of the
uncertainties relating to the proposed measures and the
availability of continuing financial support from a substantial
shareholder that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, we have disclaimed our
opinion. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would be necessary if the proposed
measures fail to achieve their planned results.

We were unable to carry out alternative audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to the matters set out in paragraphs (1) to (3) above.

Any adjustment that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the matters set out in paragraphs (1) to (3) would have a
consequential effect on the financial positions of the Group and
the Company as at 31 March 2008, the net loss and cash flows of
the Group for the year then ended and the related disclosures in
the financial statements.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION: DISCLAIMER ON VIEW
GIVEN BY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Because of the significance of (i) the effects of the scope limitation
in evidence made available to us in each of the areas as set out in
paragraphs (1) to (2) in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph
and (ii) the material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis,
we do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as to whether they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. In all
other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 5 February 2009

Sze Chor Chun, Yvonne

Practising Certificate Number P05049
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Consolidated Income Statement r: e e ended 31 vorch 2008
%é l‘l& ﬁ:_é % B —FENF=A=1+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EENF TEELF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B et BT T BT T
Turnover =2 7 48,558 67,754
Cost of sales SHERA (69,022) (101,356)
Gross loss EEERE (20,464) (33,602)
Other revenue Hitde sz 8 2,522 3,067
Other net income Ha gl A 8 34,865 2,801
Distribution costs BITH A (617) (2,162)
Administrative and other THEHMZERS
operating expenses (41,320) (39,082)
Loss from operations REFE (25,014) (68,978)
Finance costs B 7 AR AN 9(a) (26,413) (24,213)
Share of result of an associate 71— & A T¥E 10 (138) (579)
Loss before taxation BB RIEE 9 (51,565) (93,770)
Income tax g8t 11(@a) 900 (11,075)
Loss for the year FEEE (50,665) (104,845)
Attributable to TH AN
— Equity shareholders of A VNGIL: £33
the Company (50,665) (104,845)
Dividend BE = -
Loss Per Share BREE 15
Basic HK (5.11) centsfll  (10.57) centsfLl
Diluted g N/A RiE A N/A N3

FA43B R 135 B 2 AR BRER

—Bbtn

The notes on pages 43 to 135 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet . .:5 vor 2008

%é ﬁ E ﬁ{ﬁ % R-FENF=A=1+—H

2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
No(e HK$’000 HKI$ ‘000
Kiat EBMT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Fixed assets BEE&E 17
— Other property, —Hiby -
plant and equipment R 5 M 2% 4,545 18,965
— Interest in leasehold land —BEBELEHERE
held for own use under BERAZHEE
operating lease TR 117 120
4,662 19,085
Interest in an associate R—EEE AR S 19 - 138
4,662 19,223
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20(3) 396 946
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E bk 21 5,799 10,527
Cash and cash equivalents RekReE TEIE E 22 565 2,026
6,760 13,499
CURRENT LIABILITIES pi =R
Borrowings BE 25 42,455 12,410
Obligations under finance leases @& FA EF & 26 - 150
Convertible note AT R IR 27 - 49,005
Trade and other payables B 5 & HAMERNFRIE 23 40,513 46,522
Current taxation REFFIA 24(a) 12,274 10,961
(95,242) (119,048)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFRE (88,482) (105,549)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ EMAERABAERS
LIABILITIES (83,820) (86,326)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Borrowings BE 25 185,945 164,128
Convertible note AT RAR IR 27 27,552 -
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 24(b) 3,928 2,214
(217,425) (166,342)
NET LIABILITIES BEFH (301,245) (252,668)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#EE 28(a)
Share capital L@ 49,584 49,584
Reserves i (350,829) (302,252)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY B R A (301,245) (252,668)
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson 5 R-ZETNF - RHEEESHEN
February 2009 R
Yu Wai Ying Sammy Wong Yue Kwan Alan
RIER EX 0
Director Director
2 2
The notes on pages 43 to 135 form part of these financial $F43BZ1358 7 [T AR EHRE
statements. —ZB( o
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Balance Sheet 4 .31 vk 2008

EEEBR rrorzrzra

2008 2007
—EEN\E —TEEF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt BMETF T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHTEB A BERS 18 7 403
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables Ho4th JE W R IE 21 = 100
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEIEH 22 16 1,228
16 1,328
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Borrowings BE 25 31,045 11,000
Convertible note Al I IR 27 = 49,005
Due to a subsidiary e —FEIMTBARIKIAE 18 2,058 249
Other payables A T RRIE 23 5,386 4,510
Current taxation NFEERIA 24(a) 184 185
(38,673) (64,949)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEEE (38,657) (63,621)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHERABERE
LIABILITIES (38,650) (63,218)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Borrowings B8 25 145,814 126,170
Convertible note Al NG R 27 27,552 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIBEAE 24(b) 3,928 145
(177,294) (126,315)
NET LIABILITIES B8EFH (215,944) (189,533)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXK#HE 28(b)
Share capital &N 49,584 49,584
Reserves i (265,528) (239,117)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY BB 4 (215,944) (189,533)

N-ZTEEANFE_ATAESEESHER

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 5

February 2009 RT3
Yu Wai Ying Sammy Wong Yue Kwan Alan
RIBE XU
Director Director
= =
The notes on pages 43 to 135 form part of these financial 438 F1358 2 ARMGHRE
statements. — IR o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in EqQuity s e ear ended 31 tereh 2008

%é% %_é @ E % BE—FTEN\F=H=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AAAEERRER
Convertible
Share Share note equity Shareholders’ Merger  Exchange Distributable  Fair value Accumulated
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRRRE TRIE  DAEE
A& RGEE BRRE RRHE AhthE EiffE i 51 ZRER a5t

HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
BETT  EMTT  ERTr  ERTn BRTT BBt BRTm BRTm BRI BRI

At 1 April 2006 i 49,584 127,764 16,432 72,894 121,914 2,347 231,340 (133) (767,794) (145,652)
mA—A

Exchange reserve —BERIEAKZ

realised on WEARZ

deconsolidation of EHEBER

a subsidiary - - - - - (2,304) - - - (2,304)
Changes in fair value of ~ ATfHERE 2

available-for-sale BEED

investments - - - - - - - 133 - 133
Loss for the year FEEB - - - - - - - - (104,845)  (104,845)

At 31 March 2007 RZZT+F

ZA=t—-H 49,584 127,764 16,432 72,894 121,914 43 231,340 - (872,639) (252,668)
At 1 April 2007 RZZTLF
HA—H 49,584 127,764 16,432 72,894 121,914 43 231,340 - (872,639) (252,668)
Adjustment of TRREESE
amortised cost of KARE
convertible note - - 6,016 - - - - - - 6,016

Deferred tax liability on ~ BRELEHIEEE
recognition of equity  FIABRER

component of 2R
convertible note - - (3,928) - - - - - - (3,928)
Loss for the year FERHB - - - - - - - - (50,665) (50,665)

At 31 March 2008 RZFRNE
ZA=t-R 49,584 127,764 18,520 72,894 121,914 43 231,340 - (923304)  (301,245)

The notes on pages 43 to 135 form part of these financial $43B %1358 2 M AR ERE 2
statements. —&k1p ©
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement r: e eor endea 31 werch 2008
%éiﬁlﬁﬁii BE-—FENF=HA=1+—HIFEF

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kiat BT T BEF T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Loss before taxation BRI RIE 1B (51,565) (93,770)
Adjustments for: AR
Depreciation e 12,525 19,619
Amortisation of land THE i (B8 5
lease premium 3 3
Loss on disposal of HERHHE
available-for-sale investments "EEE - 232
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR 29(a) - (576)
Gain on deconsolidation of KIEERE — B
a subsidiary ARIERBzME 290) - (2,225)
Gain on adjustment of PR RIE
amortised cost of BESHA AN 2 e
convertible note (26,638) -
Interest income FEUA 4) (17)
Finance costs SR ID N 26,413 24,213
Impairment loss on B 5 EWCIERE
trade receivables g 850 1,788

(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEME - BE R

property, plant and Btz (W)

equipment BB (547) 263
Loss on property, plant MEEZE - BB &

and equipment written off i B R 2,094 -
(Reversal of provision)/provision EBENZ (B
for employee benefits e R (7.680) 176
Share of result of an associate Sh—fEEE R F A 138 579
Write down of inventories WREE 323 -
OPERATING LOSS BEFORE EEESHBAIZ
CHANGES IN WORKING ReEmE
CAPITAL (44,088) (49,715)
Decrease in inventories FERD 227 647
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 & Hth EU R IA
other receivables w (3EAn) 3,878 (3,428)
Increase in trade and B 5 N E e
other payables FRIEIE HN 1,650 6,846
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS XBEAZRS (38,333) (45,650)
Interest paid ERFLE (2,336) (21)
Interest received 2B 4 17
Tax paid ERIE (1 -
NET CASH USED IN RETEFIERZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEFRE (40,666) (45,654)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement e eor endea 31 warch 2008

%é EE: %5}2&: i % BE—FTEN\F=H=1—HIFE

2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
HiaE BT T BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Payment for the purchase of BAYZE - BFE &
property, plant and equipment B ANEN (209) (2,770)
Proceeds from sale of property, ﬁ’if@% - B &
plant and equipment RAEFT1S A 557 80
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEERE
available-for-sale investments FriS 308 - 1,334
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BRI e —H
B A RERE 29(b) - (6)
NET CASH GENERATED RETEEE (A
FROM/(USED IN) ZEEFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 348 (1,362)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES TS
Increase in advances — A ERFEIAFIEN
from a substantial shareholder 9,096 44,184
Increase in other borrowings HAbEEEG M 53,613 4,279
Repayment of advances from B —ZEBRREAK
a substantial shareholder (4,130) -
Repayment of other borrowings (EEEMEE (19,572) -
Repayment of finance lease EEpmERE (150) (331)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FRlIE%(KE4L RS FHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 38,857 48,132
(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH iﬁ.ﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WD) (1,461) 1,116
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RIAA—BZHER
AT 1 APRIL Re%EER 2,026 910
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=HBA=+—HzHERK
AT 31 MARCH Re%EEE 22 565 2,026
The notes on pages 43 to 135 form part of these financial $43BZ1358 2 WEARMEREZ
statements. —Epp °
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Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

Eji%ﬁi MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

SMI Publishing Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) is the publication of newspapers, magazines and
books.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - MATERIAL
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO THE GOING
CONCERN BASIS

The Group sustained consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$50,665,000 (2007:
HK$104,845,000) for the year ended 31 March 2008. At 31
March 2008, the Group had consolidated net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$88,482,000 (2007:
HK$105,549,000) and HK$301,245,000 (2007:
HK$252,668,000) respectively.

During the current and prior years, the Group experienced
financial difficulties and was unable to meet the payment
obligations. Various parties took legal actions against the Group
to recover amounts due to them (see note 33).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION - MATERIAL
UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO THE GOING
CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

In view of the liquidity problems faced by the Group, the
directors planned to adopt the following proposed measures
with the view to improve the Group’s financial and cash flow
position and to maintain the Group’s existence on a going
concern basis:

(@) the directors have sought financial support from a
substantial shareholder to provide adequate funds for the
Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due, both present
and future;

(b) the directors have identified and have been negotiating
with potential investors for proposed capital injection
arrangements; and

(c) the directors have adopted various cost control measures
to reduce general administrative expenses and operating
costs.

In the opinion of the directors, upon successful implementation
of these measures, the Group will have sufficient cash resources
to satisfy its future working capital and other financing
requirements. Accordingly, the directors are of the view that it
is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above and fail to
continue in business as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to restate the values of the assets to their
immediate recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. MAIRKEBITERBUBERS
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ¥Rz e
("HKFRSs")
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, RAFE AEEEXERAEES
the following new standard, amendment and interpretations TR A MM 2 TEEETLER] - (&
("new HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified RIRRE ([FAI BB EmELE
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), which are effective for the Bl WAAEER -T2 +FM
Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2007. A—BRZHBFEREERN -
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures BR G ER BRABKE
F15% (BFIA)
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures BERBRE SRTE: BE
ERIZE T
HK(FRIC) — INT 8 Scope of HKFRS 2 % BRHBRE BEUMBRSEER
#EZE9) E25. 2 E[E
—RBEH
HK(IFRIC) = INT 9 Reassessment of Embedded B4 BEREBERE ENIAAS
Derivatives #EZEY) TETR
—RBENR
HK(FRIC) = INT 10 Interim Financial Reporting and % BBRHERE PHIHBEREAE
Impairment 2EZE®)
—ZEE105%
HK(IFRIC) — INT 11 HKFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share B4 (ERMBERE AANBHREER
Transactions ZEZEg) F2R-EBR

—REE11H BERHRS

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on BRANFTR] BB B RS S 2R R A

how the results and financial position for the current or prior REf B SHHRGRREREYHE

accounting periods have been prepared and presented. BRVBRRAZ TRERKEREY

Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required. 2 Al &8FE L —ESEEL
éié%% °
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards or interpretations that have been issued but are not

yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) = Int 12

HK(IFRIC) - Int 13

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14

Presentation of Financial
Statements’
Borrowing Costs’

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements?

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations’

Business Combinations?

Operating Segments’

Service Concession Arrangements?

Customer Loyalty Programmes’

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these standards or interpretations will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by the Company and other members
of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.
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influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost and adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEEEBER (@)
Investments in associates BEREENT
An associate is an entity over which the investor has a significant BERRIREEHEBEAYE

ZER 1E|]ITE GLNEYNGIE
A

BanmlzEREREERAETIA

BEHEREARNZ FA ?/:.\ﬁﬁ%iﬁ
%:z o REBRELE - RBE QR 2
BERAANEARREEEERE
o WIREBR AR B A% E

Group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any NABEFEZEESELFAE - 1N
identified impairment loss. When the Group's share of losses BRI RI 2 BB EE o A
of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate E LA AR 2 R SRR

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that
associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the relevant associate.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008

H g Nl 2 am (BRI
oD - ERBRARERZE
BRRZFRE B o BIRE
BRI ERERE 2 E—PEIE
HERBAREBARRLEE QAR
ZERBHEBEHAIEL 2K
AEE T SEINEIG BB IFL &
BRERELL



Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

Ejggiﬁ% MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEE:BER (&)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

W% BERRE

WE - BERRERERIELEENL
RHEERIRBIMETERAE2E
F o HRRASRE R 2 RIETE
K RTEREREIRR

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of FEDRME - BEREREER 2
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives REtPIE RS - 5 REMGEFIER

and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method at the following rates:

(BB - R T IILL R A B AREM A
%% 55 B s TR B 2 AN ET

Building 4% BF 4%
Leasehold improvements 15% HEMHEEE 15%
Machinery 15% Hes 15%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% A e 15%
Network and computer equipment 15% Zﬁ%&a@ iﬁi&{% 15%
Motor vehicles 15% B 15%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

REREMERAZEEILMHE
BEREEZMEREE - AREFHRI(E
P Bk ARRITE & F 8 AR
ERE)FE -

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon BYWE  BELARBEAENHER
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to SIEEREEREE TR E AR
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss OB SR 2R IR - ZBER

arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Inventories FE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

4.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FES:HBE &)
Financial instruments (Continued) €@MIT A (@
Impairment of financial assets BB EEZRE

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

—  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

— default of delinquency in interest or principal payment; or

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade and other
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30
days to 60 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. =EE:BUER (&)

54

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

SRIT A (&
MBEEZRE @&

Edci;zi‘%ﬁﬁﬁk$§u ZMBEEM

B EBPRBEREE LT
B - BIRBas OB ER R - iR
BEZREEMGFARRSRE
RAAERNRAGE 2 RE2 8

e

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced I EWGERIE 2 AR EE TR B R
by the impairment loss directly with the exception of trade TE}EETEETR?DM :3=07) LGS
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the BroN - HEREE TS iﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬂ
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount e BHERR  REEZENER

of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

7 o HE 5 R IE%W?LF%E%
Yl - RIREBERR IR o Eﬁfé%@
BIEMEE 2 FIRET ARZER

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a MIRBIEKATAEZHBEEM
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases = MR EREE - REEESRE
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event B ek A Bl & i ER T SRR
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the BEEBEREEZEHER - RIS

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FES:HBE &)
Financial instruments (Continued) €@ T A (@)
Financial liabilities and equity MBEERRA

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognsied on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including other borrowings and trade

and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEE:BUR (&)

56

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Company that contain
both the liability and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes into
equity, is included in equity (convertible note equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
loan notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing the option to
convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible note equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
carried in convertible note equity reserve will be transferred to
share premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry date, the balance carried in convertible note equity
reserve will be released to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of
the option.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Convertible loan notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relates to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for
aloss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by
the Group and not designated as at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences
arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEE:BER (&)

60

Taxation (Continued)

Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

(a)

Sales of newspapers, magazines and books are recognised
when newspapers, magazines and books are delivered and
title has passed.

Advertising revenue is recognised on the relevant
publication date of the Group’s newspapers and
magazines.

Advertising revenue is also derived from the sales of
advertisements and sponsorships on the Group's website.
Advertising revenue is recognised over the period in which
the advertisements are displayed, provided that no
significant obligations remain and collection of the
receivable is reasonably assured.

Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a timely
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable.

Services income is recognised when the services are
provided.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEE:BER (&)

62

Barter transactions

When goods or services are exchanged or swapped for dissimilar
goods or services, the exchange is regarded as a transaction
which generates revenue and barter revenue and expenses are
recognised. Barter revenue and expenses are measured at the
fair value of the goods or services received, adjusted by the
amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. When the
fair value of the goods or services received cannot be measured
reliably, barter revenue and expenses are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services give up, adjusted by the amount
of any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees on or before 7 November
2002 or granted after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005 — Transitional provisions of HKFRS 2

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the
consolidated income statement in respect of the value of
options granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the
resulting shares issued are recorded as additional share capital
at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise
price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded
as share premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior
to their exercise date are deleted from the register of
outstanding options.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged

as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling
them to the contributions.
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Foreign currencies ShEs
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group RERZEREEEEBYBEREK

entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e., the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items and on the translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms
part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation,
in which case such exchange differences are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in equity, in which cases the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEE:BER (&)

64

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e., Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised as a separate component of equity (the exchange
reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed
of.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and a
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. TE2:BE (&)
Leases (Continued) HE @
The Group as lessee (Continued) REBEREMBA @)

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in
land are accounted for as operating leases.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

(b) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(c) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

(d) the party is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(e) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in
(a) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(f) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEEFBE (&)
Borrowing costs BE A

All borrowing costs are recognised and included in finance costs FIEBER AR BEZ BER#ER
in the consolidated income statement in the period in which R BIELLTE W& 2 B R AR
they are incurred. A o

Segment reporting D2

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged B o EERERHERTIRBE
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and —HBERER  MzAEENE
returns that are different from those of other business B2 Bk & B HRA RN E MRS
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 2o A MR E R ELBER
products or services within a particular economic environment 5 NMESIRME MRS - Mazs
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from B0z BB K B A Bl E At 4 7
those of segments operating in other economic environments. RIEIEE 2 ED o

Provisions B’i&

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present ERSEHRNBTEHEMBERIREA
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that B MASEAReREEEZE
the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions B - AlemRids  BENES
are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure REZERAMBEE 2R 2 &EMR
required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and FETE WU ESKZRER
are discounted to its present value where the effect is material. | e

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5. RS HERMATTRE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

(a) Going concern and liquidity

The Group has consolidated net liabilities of approximately
HK$301,245,000 at 31 March 2008 and loss of
approximately HK$50,665,000 for the year then ended
indicating the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The directors are taking active
steps to improve the liquidity position of the Group and
details are set out in note 2. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Should the measures fail to improve the liquidity position
of the Group and the Group is unable to continue in
business as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets of
the Group to their recoverable amount, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b) Useful lives and residual values of property,

(9]

plant and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives and residual values
of its property, plant and equipment based on the period
over which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The estimated useful lives and residual values of the
property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually and
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due
to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the
assets. In addition, the Group’s estimation of the useful
lives and residual values of its property, plant and
equipment is based on its collective assessment of industry
practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with
similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of
operations could be materially affected by changes in those
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned
above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for
any period would be affected by changes in these factors
and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful
lives and residual value of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment would increase its recorded depreciation
expenses and decrease its non-current assets.

Deferred tax assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at each balance
sheet date and estimates whether the Group will generate
sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of the deferred
tax assets to be utilised.

5. BRETHERMETTRE
RERZFERR (&)

(b) % BERREZIE

(9]
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(d) Impairment losses for bad and doubtful accounts

(e)

The policy for impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and ageing analysis of accounts on management’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each customer. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate
thus resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances for impairment losses may
be required.

Provision for write down of inventories

The Group estimates the provision for write down of
inventories based on the best available facts and
circumstances, including but not limited to, the inventories’
own conditions (i.e., whether they are damaged or become
wholly or partially obsolete), their market selling prices,
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to be
incurred for their sales. The provisions are re-evaluated
and adjusted where additional information received affects
the amount estimated.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. TRIEMEEBERBEK

AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, convertible note,
obligation under finance leases and borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Credit risk

(i) Asat31 March 2008, the maximum exposure to credit
risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated balance sheet after
deducting any impairment allowance.

(i) In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition is
performed on each and every major customer
periodically. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The Group does not require
collateral in respect of its financial assets. Debts are
usually due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing.

AEBZEZERMTABRES R
HAbEUEIR - B 5 R EAM R
R ARREE - REMEEAENR
BE - hEFERMITAZFBRER
BEBWE - LESRTAZ A
RieeREaRk  RBEERA
B~ MRER N EERE o R
FE < BRI T - EEER
BEEENERILERAR - AREREE
SR M A RO EREUE Z i o

(a) FE=RERE

() RZZEENF=ZA=1+—
H &a2EGERRBIE
M EENGAEAEAR
AR ERE R R
ZBREE -

(il SE S REMEY AT
5 RRERRE - EEE
ERLEEREK  FEE
EZEEERR - WEH
MEREEEPYHIRR
FARIPETTIEERHA - &
EHAEETFRELPBEX
N RIEAFIR 2 Aesk M IR
ZIFREES - XEERIT
FzRERFPERNMERP
REMEE 2 &BER
5 o AEE DA EI
BEFAEMD - E%—
RNBEZERAHEF =1T%
NTHAZE -

TEZN\EFEER e EXHREBERAT

71



Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

/E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

72

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s exposure
to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. At the balance sheet
date, the Group had certain concentration of credit
risk as approximately 31% (2007: Nil), 17% (2007:
38%) and nil (2007: 9%) of the total trade and other
receivables was due from a major customer, the
landlord for the rental deposit and the substantial
shareholder of the Company respectively.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 21.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. TRIEMEEBERBEK
AND POLICIES (Continued) (48)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) FEE 2 E B

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The
Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2008, the Group has available
un-utilised loan facilities of approximately HK$ 16,836,000
(2007: HK$NIl), details of which are disclosed in note 25(a).

0lE

AEEANERNEEEREERHR
FEZREEE  ERERER
B ERERABGESRI
HEZEENENEEZRESH
Koo REE 2 BUR A TE BER
HIRE RFERRBEST KK
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. cREREEEERBEK

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FEE T E b (&)
The following liquidity table set out the remaining TREIIREE RARRRZ
contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the BRBREER ZRHELE
Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities based on HIER - ZEMBERETIRE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest BHRBRBERE (BFEA
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, REAFE (WEEE - A
based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the BEER 2BHITAR)FE
earliest date the Group and the Company is required to FERF) EAEBRART]
pay: BANRZEFHEAELE
The Group REE
2008 2007
—se)E S
More than ~ More than Total More than More than Total
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but contractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying 1 year or less than lessthan  More than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount  on demand 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
AKAKE AdREE
-Ep  BE-FE  BERER B4R ~FRE RB-FE  REAEE Bhid
BER  OREE  OREE  BEEE 88 REE IR JNEE  JREE  2EEF #5  BEA

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
BRTn  BRTn  BRTn BRTn BRTn BRTn B¥Tn BMTR BRI BETn BETR BETx

Borrowings BE 44,543 118,789 = 122421 285,753 228,400 12,410 101,259 - 144,332 258,001 176,538
Obligations under BATHE
finance leases % - - - - - - 15 - - - 152 150
Convertible note  FTRKRE - 50,000 - - 50,000 21,552 50,000 - - - 50,000 49,005
Trade and other B 5REM
payables ENFZE 40513 - - - 40513 40,513 4652 - - - 46,52 4,52
85,056 168,789 - 12 376,266 296,465 109,084 101,259 - 144,332 354,675 272,215
The Company ¥ N
2008 2007
ZBENE ZRTtE
More than ~ More than Total Morethan ~ More than Total
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but contractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying 1 year or less than lessthan  More than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount  on demand 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
EREY 3 AHRER
-FRy  BB-FE RERFE e —FRy  BA-FE  BEREE Rene
®EX SRRE SREE RRLF a8 HEE BEX SRRE PREF [ CRES 28 SEfE

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS(000  HKS'000
BEFR  BETR  BETR  BRTR EETm BRTmn BN BNTR BMTR BETR BMTR . KR

Borrowings & 33133 118,789 - 58,662 210,584 176,859 11,000 101,259 - 69,145 181,404 137,170
Convertible note  ATRRER - 50,000 - - 50,000 27,552 50,000 - - - 50,000 49,005
Duetoa RS 2,058 - - - 2,058 2,058 249 - - - 249 249
subsidiary GE
Other payables i fEff 5,386 - - - 5,386 5,386 4,510 - - - 4,510 4,510
$H
40,577 168,789 - 58,662 268,028 211,855 65,759 101,259 - 69,145 236,163 190,934
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. TRIEMEEBERBEK
AND POLICIES (Continued) (48)

(0 FIREER

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest risk arises primarily from its
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group's
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set
out in (i) below.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets
and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of market interest rate arising from the Group’s HKD
borrowings and bank deposits.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as its bank
deposits are all interest-bearing. All bank deposits are short-
term deposits with maturities less than or equal to three
months. Management does not anticipate any significant
impact resulting from the change in interest rates because
the Group’s bank balances are carried at low interest rates
and the interest income thereon is not significant.

AREBZ MEERETZHEE
BEL - REFFERIZEFE
MEBRBZEBESAKED R
AERERENERAB R AR
BEMNXRER BEEERREZ
ZNER B A KBRS T 3L3)
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PETRARERE—H - AEH
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. cREREEEERBEK

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FI=mEp (&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FZBR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TREFFIAREEREEAR
the Group's borrowings at the balance sheet date: B8 2 IR -
The Group
r5E
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLEF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates rates
(iR R
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
% BEFT % BT
Fixed rate EEFEEER
borrowings:
Borrowings 8- 18-43 20,323 24.00 1,249
Obligations under BMEMEAE
finance leases - - 1.33-1.40 150
Convertible note AR TR 28.05 27,552 28.50 49,005
47,875 50,404
Variable rate SBHAREE
borrowings:
Borrowings fE& 5.82 180,275 8.31 164,128
Total borrowings fEE®BE 228,150 214,532
Fixed rate borrowings ~ EEFIEEER
as a percentage of BEEFEZ
total net borrowings BOL 21% 23%
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. TRIEMEEBERBEK

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FI=M=pz (&)
(i) Interest rate profile (Continued) (i) FIZ=MR @)
The Company
KAH
2008 2007
—EENF “EELF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates rates
BRA=X Bl A%
% HK$'000 % HK3$'000
% BETT % BT
Fixed rate EEFREE :
borrowings:
Borrowings 9 18-43 20,074 24.00 1,000
Convertible note QEES 28.05 27,552 28.50 49,005
47,626 50,005
Variable rate BEHREEE
borrowings:
Borrowings 3= 5.99 140,144 8.47 126,170
Total borrowings et 187,770 176,175
Fixed rate borrowings & FI|R{E &L
as a percentage of BREEFEZ
total net borrowings B 25% 28%
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. cREREEEERBEK
AND POLICIES (Continued) (48)

(o) FIRER (5)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) BBED

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2008, it is estimated that a general \_22/\5 RA=+—

increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately HK$901,000 (2007:
HK$821,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-
derivative financial liabilities in existence at that date.
The 50 basis points increase or decrease represents

AR R R/ LT
Tliésmg%iﬁﬁﬁﬁfrﬁﬁlm
BEHRFTE - AAEE
ZBFE BB REEBR
e 1R A # B
901,0007T (ZEZ+F :
7 #£821,0007T) °

B S T B RRFI
EEBREE R 1
=S BB R
B2 ST RIS R 2 FI
kAR ETIET * 50fE
2 SR

management’s assessment of a reasonably possible ETMEAFEHAEER %'J
change in interest rates over the period until the next B AR B) 2 FHE o
annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed TEF 2o T AERE
on the same basis for 2007. HEHELT o

(d) Currency risk (d) E¥Epx

R SR B3R A X0 SR A RASNE LR
ZERER o R ANERE Z P
BEERO AR EE - A
R5ERREE - AEBEZX
5N LR LR o

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s transactional
currency is Hong Kong dollars as substantially all the
turnover is in Hong Kong dollars. The Group's transactional
foreign exchange exposure was insignificant.

78  SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008



Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

,E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- E BE—FTF)\F=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. TRIEMEEBERBEK

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
(e) Fair value (e) DAREE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities WREELRMBAGBEZ ARE

are determined as follows: BIRE TS IEETE

— the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities — MWAEZREGRREGER
with standard terms and conditions and traded on ERkERBUETSEEE
active liquid markets are determined with reference LU EERMBEES
to quoted market bid prices and ask prices RABEIDRIZER®R
respectively; and Mgz BEHEREANEE

E R

— the fair value of other financial assets and financial — HMBBEEMVEERE
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally AR BEDBELEER
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash oz EERT - FARE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable SERMISER S 2 BEN
current market transactions as input. L EIZAMRBEREER

BAER} o

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not RZZEZENFR_ZFTLF=

materially different from their fair values as at 31 March R=+—HB FiBE&fIAZ

2008 and 2007. JIfReRBEHEN A BETES

RER o
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7. TURNOVER

Turnover represents the gross proceeds received and receivable
derived from the sales of newspapers, magazines, books and
advertising income and are summarized as follows:

LR

LEBED W MERA BIHER
& MESMERZREUANESK
ANKEER - RS

2008 2007
—EENE —TTHHF
HK$°000 HK$'000

BETFT BETIT

Sales of newspapers, HEWRE - MBS
magazine and books
Newspapers and magazine WERMFESBA

advertising income

Included in newspapers and magazine advertising income is
approximately HK$537,000 (2007: HK$176,000) in respect of
barter transactions entered into during the year.
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8. OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME Hithlzs R WA
2008 2007
—EENFE ZTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Other revenue HAa e
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 4 17
Total interest income LR BEER
on financial assets not B8R 2 B 7%
at fair value through BEAMNBWA
profit or loss 4 17
Sundry income FETEYA 2,518 2,050
Licence fee income ELEE=T PN - 1,000
2,522 3,067
Other net income H A FUA
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME - HE K&
plant and equipment =t 2 TR 547 -
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMHEB AR 2 /FKa - 576
Net gain on deconsolidation of RIEERE —EB AR
a subsidiary AR B 2R E - 2,225
Gain on adjustment of amortised ARAMREIREE
cost of convertible note XA 2 Was 26,638 -
Reversal of provision B OlE Bt R
for employee benefits 7,680 -
34,865 2,801
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the BRESAIEIB IS NGR, GIA) T
following: IR
2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ETAF
HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

(a) Finance costs (a) BA#ERR A

Interest on bank borrowings REFRAEZHER

wholly repayable RITIEEF R

within five years 14 3
Interest on other borrowings RAFAZEEEZ

wholly repayable HiEERE

within five years 11,022 8,131
Interest on other borrowings RAFBE2IHEEZ

wholly repayable HibgEHE

after five years 4,174 4,597
Effective interest expenses MR ER 2 BER

on convertible note MEFMX 11,201 11,464
Finance charges on obligations BEHERETZ

under finance leases BMEEM 2 18
Total interest expense AR EBEEBRER

on financial liabilities not PBR 2 IS BB

at fair value through MERZ

profit or loss 26,413 24,213

(b) Staff costs (including (b) ETIRA (BIEESE

Directors’ emoluments ZMe (Hfit12))

(note 12))
Salaries, wages and e TERHEAMET

other benefits 28,439 58,649
Contributions to defined TE R FGRINET 8 2 K

contribution retirement plan 1,621 2,403

30,060 61,052
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 9. KRBLATESE (B)
2008 2007
—EENFE ZTLF
HK$'000 HK$°000
BETT BT T
(c) Other items (c) HAIEH
Auditor's remuneration ZEENE 2 900 800
Depreciation e
— own property, —BEVE  HFE
plant and equipment L] 12,473 19,370
— leased property, —HEME - BFE
plant and equipment L] 52 249
Amortisation of land TE T o (B 8
lease premium 3 3
Impairment loss on 2 5 WA
trade receivables RIEEE 850 1,788
Loss on disposal of HERHIPERE
available-for-sale investments < 518 - 232
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEME - BENM&E
property, plant and equipment 2 (Wa) /EBE (547) 263
Loss on property, plant and WIEZE - HE K&
equipment written off Z 518 2,094 -
Provision for employee benefits BB RNz B - 176
Minimum lease payments under RIRKEHEZ
operating leases on =IEMERK
— machinery — e 299 398
— leasehold land and buildings —fHELTHRIEF 7,114 6,276
Cost of inventories (note 20(b)) FERA (Ba200)) 7,313 28,410
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10. SHARE OF RESULTS OF AN ASSOCIATE 10. DM —EBE AT EE
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLF
HK$000 HK$'000

BETT BETIT

Share of losses of an associate ME—EBERF 2
before taxation Br i Al ES1E 138 579
Share of associate’s taxation DR E AN TIFIE - -

138 579

11. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME  11. REESWHR KR ZATEH

STATEMENT
(@) Income tax in the consolidated income statement (@) RixalmRAEHEE -
represents:
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
B FT BT
Current tax REEHIE
Hong Kong BB 591 2,968
Under-provision in respect of  BEFEBEETT
prior years
Hong Kong BB 723 7,993
Deferred tax EFER IR
Current year REE (2,214) 114
(900) 11,075
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% (2007: BB MEHIAF A EERTL
17.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. SaAIE17.5% (ZEZLF -

17.5% )st&E -
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11. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME

STATEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss

"M. REEWRERZFES (&

(b) HH S MEFHERERER

at the applicable tax rates: R 7 AR -
2008 2007
—BEENE —ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation BRE AT EE (51,565) (93,770)
Notional tax on loss before BRRTAIEBE 2%
taxation, calculated I REANEE
at the rates applicable in MG R AR 2 =
the tax jurisdictions concerned B (9,024) (16,410)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR 2 RIB R 2
expenses 5,887 15,891
Tax effect of non-taxable income SR ZRFH UL A 2 T 1B 57 £ (6,011) (8,205)
Tax effect of capital allowances &R RHIFE 2 HIAFE - (273)
Tax effect of unused tax losses KR Z A B AR IEE 1B
not recognized ZRERE 7,716 11,864
Tax effect of share of results of D {hEEE R B EE 2
associate MIETE 24 101
Tax effect of utilisation of FRTFARERZAREA
unused tax losses not MIEE B 2 HIA R 2
recognised in prior years (148) (1,955)
Under-provision in prior years T FEEHT 2 723 7,993
Others HAtb (67) 2,069
Actual tax (credit)/expenses ERFIE R FAX (900) 11,075

TEZN\EFEER e EXHREBERAT
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12. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 12.EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 161 of EEMEBRBEEBRAEHIZE 161
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: IEIREWT -

Year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZE\F=A=1t-HLEE

Contributions

Salaries,  to defined

wages contribution

Directors’ and other  retirement
fees benefits plan Total

2 EEMR

IER BIRGTE
Yok HitEH A @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT BETT BYETFT BYETT

Chairman i
Qin Hong B =Z - - - -
Executive Directors HITES
Hao Bin**** I A 30 - - 30
Wang Fei T R - - - -
Independent Non-Executive B FH1T
Directors =
Shi Bin Hai*** B ** 45 - - 45
Yan Chun** B S - - - -
Jiang Jin Sheng ZHESE 28 - - 28
Kong Tze Wing TFe 114 - - 114

217 = = 217
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12. EEM <€ (@)

Year ended 31 March 2007

BE-PTLE=ASt-ALFE

Contributions
Salaries, to defined
wages  contribution
Directors' and other retirement
fees benefits plan Total
e ERHET
TER RIKEHE
EEXikn HEH R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT BEFT BT
Chairman E
Qin Hong B =Z - - - -
Executive Directors HITES
Hao Bin**** I A - 60 - 60
Wang Fei T R - - - -
Xing Jing* & - - - -
Independent Non-Executive M EHI1T
Directors =
Shi Bin Hai*** BB *** - - - -
Yan Chun** B S - - - -
- 60 - 60
*  Resigned on 13 April 2006 * ROFTNFAA=HEHTE
**  Resigned on 25 April 2008 o RZFZN\FPYH A+ HHAFE
**%  Resigned on 13 August 2008 Rk R-FTNFNA+=HEHE
**%* Rasigned on 10 October 2007 wRxx QT BTALAF A A HEHE

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments were
paid to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
year. There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended
31 March 2008 and 2007.

As at 31 March 2008, no (2007: Nil) share options was held by
the directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The
details of the share options are disclosed under the paragraph
“Share capital and share option” in the report of the directors
and note 31.

FA - AEE LB EAM S
REE TEFARSIRFEAINAR
SESERERME - #E-TE
NER—FEZLF=A=+—HIt
FE  MEESNEXRBREL
T 2 Z2 8k

RZBZENF=A=+—H  #iE
ESEARRBBRET S T AR
Pt (_g‘gti i) - BEAEL
HERNEFERES [RALER
1 —BREME3REE -
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13. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 13. BEHAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEREZEFATHILEBRE
Group, nil (2007: nil) was a director of the Company whose RAAFEH(ZTZLF 8 K
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 12 above. RAEEMEEFHN EXMFF122
The emoluments of the remaining five (2007: five) individuals BERN - HBAZ (TS LF
were as follows: hA)EaFALTZMESIT -

2008 2007

—BEN\F —TTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETFT BETIT

Salaries, wages and other benefits ~ #& « T& K EEF 2,397 3,371
Contributions to defined ERRMHFUR AT E 2 K

contribution retirement plan 60 30

2,457 3,401
Their emoluments were all within the HK$ 1,000,000 band. H NS 250 F%%1,000,0007T
A o
There was no amount paid during the years ended 31 March HE_ZZN\FR-_ZZLF=H
2008 and 2007 to the five highest paid individuals as an =+ —HIEFE  AEBEWES
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as FRFRIETZAB RS A TR
compensation for loss of office. SIMAZEE S IERER 2 1S -
14. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 14. XA REERRELER

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of RARE=RRELGEERBRE
the Company includes a loss of approximately HK$28,499,000 ERAR R BHRENEIE 2 B8
(2007: HK$68,171,000) which has been dealt with in the #)75%28,499,0000 (=TT £
financial statements of the Company. & : B¥68,171,0007T) °
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15. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$50,665,000 (2007: HK$104,845,000)
and the weighted average number of 991,685,971
ordinary shares (2007: 991,685,971 ordinary shares) in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the current and prior years have
not been disclosed as the potential ordinary shares
outstanding during both years had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic loss per share for the current and prior years.

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Business segments

No separate analysis of financial information by business
segments is presented as the Group’s revenue, results,
assets and liabilities were all derived from its principal
activities of publication of newspapers, magazines and
books.

Geographical segments

All of the activities of the Group are based in Hong Kong
and all Group’s turnover and loss before income tax are
derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no geographical
segments information is presented.

15. SREE

(a)

(b)

BREXEE

EREREBTIARRARER
xR REGEBEBREBEE
50,665,0007T (ZEF L4 -
751104,845,0007T) KR ASE
WE 277991,685,97 1 &
f& (ZZZ 4 : 991,685,971
IR EB) 2 ke 8Et

Varad
= o
Ean

BREEEE

RRAFENEFEERTZE
EEBREAFENEFEZ
BREAN FEAREETE -
B R B M EFE 2 B
BEER -

16. D EPE R

(a)

(b)

E 3Tl

HRAEE 2 W - %465 &
ENGERIIREETEE
BHRERE - MR ERE - &
FIR5 BRI IR K5 0 B8N
DITME5! °

1 35 0 &8

REBMAXBANEEHE
- MASKEZ#RE X5 MR
PRISHAEIRIVREES -
it W2 S B ERY
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17. FIXED ASSETS 17. B E&E
The Group rER
Interest in
leasehold
land held
Furniture, Network for own use
fixtures and under Total
Leasehold and computer Motor operating fixed
Building improvements ~ Machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles Sub-total lease assets
i
HEKE
BE Bl B4R HRZEE
BT NERE BE  KERRE R RE Nt TibEE BETEE

HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  AKS000  HKS'O00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ARt EETT B¥Tn BRTn ERTn BKTn EETn ARTL ERTR

Cost 53
At 1 April 2006 R-EEAE il 1528 102,544 2,699 10,404 927 118,213 135 118,348
mE-A
Additions i - 2,162 - 318 29 - 2770 - 2770
Disposals e - (1,524) (53) - (19 (802) (2,398) - (2,398)
At 31 March 2007 R-EELE
and 1 April 2007 ZR=t-8k
ZEEtE
mA-H 1 2,166 102,491 3017 10,675 125 118,585 135 118,720
Additions bt - - - 85 124 - 209 - 209
Write off i - - (23,808) - - - (23,808) - (23,808)
Disposals it - - (3,868) - - (42) (3,910) - (3,910)
At 31 March 2008 R-EENE
=A=1-8 il 2,166 74,815 3,102 10,799 83 91,076 135 91,211
Accumulated amortisation, it R
depreciation and RAE
impairment
At 1 April 2006 RIEERE
mA-H n 1,142 72,90 2,039 5,335 616 82,056 12 82,068
Charge for the year FEXH 6 358 17,153 25 1,707 139 19,619 3 19,622
Written back on disposals HERRE - (1337) 48) - (16) (654) (2,055) - (2,055)
At 31 March 2007 i
and 1 April 2007 ZA=+-8k
“EELF
mA-H 28 163 90,007 2,295 7,006 101 99,620 15 99,635
Charge for the year EETH 6 326 10,384 237 1,559 13 12,525 3 12,528
Wite off i - - 21,714) - - - (21,714) - (21,714)
Written back on disposals ERER - - (3.866) - - (34) (3,900) - (3,900)
At 31 March 2008 RZEENE
ZA=t+-8 34 489 74,811 2532 8,585 80 86,531 18 86,549
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2008 WZZENE
ZA=t+-8 77 1677 4 570 2014 3 4,545 17 4,662
At 31 March 2007 i
ZA=t+-8 83 2,003 12,484 m 3,649 % 18,965 120 19,085
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17. FIXED ASSETS (Continued) 17. BEEE (&)
(@) The analysis of the net book value of properties is as (a) WERmFEZOTTWOT
follows:
The Group
AEE

2008 2007
—EENFE —TELF
HK$’000 HK$°000

BT T BT T

Situated in Hong Kong and U REBWRE R

held under long-term lease HERE 194 203
Representing: (A
Building B 77 83
Interest in leasehold land held — RIF&LHEFIES A
for own use under 2HE L2
operating lease 117 120
194 203
(b) The carrying amount of network and computer equipment (b) #WEEERRE EIEEE
of HK$2,214,000 includes an amount of HK$nil (2007: 2,214,000 C 2B BEIRER
HK$700,000), in respect of assets held under finance EHERBEERE R
leases. TR (ZTEZTLF - B
700,0007T) °
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. RN B A E R

The Company

ZNNS
2008 2007
—EBENF TTLF
HK$°000 HK$°000

BETT BETIT

Unlisted shares, at cost FELETRRRD + AR 35,589 35,589

Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (35,589) (35,589)

Due from subsidiaries (note b) JFE K Bf B8 R R FRIB (M atb) 870,100 843,350
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts  J& : REEEHE (H3t(c)

(note (¢)) (870,093) (842,947)

7 403

Due to a subsidiary (note d) FEATBT B A R FRIE (Kfatd) (2,058) (249)

(2,051) 154
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class

of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of company

Place/Country

of incorporation

and operation

Particulars
of issued and
paid-up capital

18. AMIB A E R (8

ez -

(a)

TRAHERTIBFEREEEE
EENMBEZMBARFE - B5H

RSN

Percentage of
equity interests
attributable
to the Company

FrARMERNIG R E B -

Principal activities

BT PN
B R REERAE PEih R
AR BB Fed Sk = E 3 Aot FEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE SE3
First Brilliant Limited British Virgin Us$1 100 - Investment holding
Islands (“BVI")

First Brilliant Limited RBEAHES 17T 100 - BAEER
Actiwater Resources Limited BVI Us$1 - 100  Investment holding
Actiwater Resources Limited REBRLHE 12£7T - 100 REER
Komatic International Limited BVI Us$1 - 100  Investment holding
Komatic International Limited EBEAES IEH - 100 REER
Optima Media Holding Limited BVI Us$100 - 100  Investment holding
Optima Media Holding Limited BBEAES 1003 7T - 100 REER
Sing Pao Newspaper Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Holding of property,

Assets Limited plant and equipment
KBTI EEBER DA BB BH 2T - 100  FEWFE - WEIREE
Sing Pao Newspaper (BVI) Limited BVI Us$1 - 100  Investment holding
Sing Pao Newspaper (BVI) Limited ~HBRZEE 17T - 100 REER
Sing Pao Newspaper Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Newspaper publication

Company Limited
PR T AR A R B B2 - 100  HhR¥#®RE
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Name of company

Place/Country Particulars

of incorporation of issued and

and operation  paid-up capital

18. KM B A AR (&)

et - (&)

Percentage of
equity interests
attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

BT AT
FE B R RERRAE FEih R

AR EHE Fed S-S F#15 Aot FTEEK

Direct Indirect

HiE SE3
Sing Pao Publishing Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Book publication
PR R AL B IR A F) N B2t - 100  HhREHE
Sing Pao Newspaper Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Provision of
Management Limited management services

PR TIE IR AR A A HE B2 - 100 iRHEERRS
StarEastNet (BVI) Limited BVI Us$1,000 100 - Investment holding
StarEastNet (BVI) Limited RBEXHS 1,000% 7T 100 - REER
Wah Fung Book Store Limited Hong Kong HK$796,000 - 100  Property holding
ZRERERAF B 7&1796,0007T - 100  FHEWE

(b) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest-bearing

and have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, no

demand for repayment will be made by the Company in the next twelve

months. Accordingly, the amounts are shown as non-current.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. RMI B A Bl EE (48)
Notes: (Continued) Biat - (48)
() Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts () RIREBEEH

The Company

RAT
2008 2007
—EENE ZETAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
At 1 April RIEA—H 842,947 798,947
Impairment losses recognised EHERBEREE 27,611 44,000
Amount reversed during the year F[E [0l 58 (465) -
At 31 March W=A=+—AR 870,093 842,947

(d) The amount due to a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and d) Ef—FMBARFEEERE B
repayable on demand. BRrS MIRERKESR -

(e) After considering the profitability, financial positions, cash flows and future (e) KEFEZSEMBARIZAFEN - B
prospects of these subsidiaries, the directors considered that it was Bk BERERKRKAR 5
appropriate to make impairment on amounts due from the subsidiaries. RENEWKME AR ZIBEZRE
The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiaries based upon THaER - IRERMB AR 2 A iE
which impairment loss is arrived at its value in use and is determined HIERBEEFREEMS ZRERS
using discounted cash flows. The discount rate used is 34.77% (2007: BIEARREREETE - EA
18.85%), which is determined with reference to the borrowing rates of ZHNIAR B34 77% (2T LF
the Group as at the balance sheet date. 18.85%) * N2ERELENEEHZ

EBEFXMETE
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REtE QRS
The Group
AEME
2008 2007
—BEN\F —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$°000

BETT BETIT

Share of net assets JE1E & EFE - 138
Particulars of the Group’s associate, which is an unlisted RZZEZNF=A=+—H &%
corporate entity, as at 31 March 2008 is as follows: @ ?ﬁ%”& Al (BIEETAA 7‘5 )z
EIOEN
Interest
held
Form of Country of indirectly
business incorporation Paid up by the  Principal
Name of company  structure and operation capital  Company  activity
%% 30 oA KOS
NEER RERA REEEXR BRRA HEzEE TEER
RPEEEEL  Sino-foreign-owned  The People’s Republic of ~ RMB5,000,000 25%  Provision of networking
EBRIBERADAR  equityjoint venture  China ("PRC") and information
services in PRC
It EESEE  THRERE hEARHANE AR 5,000,0007T 25%  MPEIRRTRA
ERRMARAT] (TE)) RENRS
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. B N EREE (8)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s RNE B E N T2 IS AR 0
associate is set out below: T

2008 2007

—BEENE —TTLF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Non-current assets FERBEE 978 1,136
Current assets MENEE 334 575

Current liabilities MEAE (3.660) (1,160)
Equity T (2,348) 551
Turnover e 1,721 2,439

Loss for the year REFEEIE (2,899) (2,392)

AREBECKIFEREE(EZEZ D
AIZE1R o REEREIH X Z QA
RAFE KRG 2 &8 (HEa~%

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of the associate. The amounts of unrecognised share of the
associate, extracted from the relevant management accounts

of the associate, both for the year and cumulatively are as BE AR ZHBAEIRERE) T
follows:
2008 2007
—ETN\E ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$°000

BETT BETIT

Unrecognised share of losses of RNEGARMERZ B
the associate for the year Bt N AR 587 -

Accumulated unrecognised share of Z&T KR Z BN
losses of the associate B N Al 1R 587 -
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20. INVENTORIES 20. Z&
(a) Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise: (a) REEBEBBERMIIZEFE
BIE
The Group
REH
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Goods for sale HEEm - 529
Printing materials ENfl#4 4 396 417
396 946
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as (b) HRAAXZFESEIITA
an expense is as follows: I
The Group
REE
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Carrying amount of ERFEZREE
inventories used 6,990 28,410
Write down of inventories WRFE 323 -

7,313 28,410
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. EZ R HMERFIE
The Group The Company
KEE PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EEN\FE “TTLE ZBEN\E —TTHE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

fiet BYTFT BETT EBETT BETT

Trade receivables H S EWFRIE 7,770 7,340 - -
Less: allowance for B - RIZBERFEE
doubtful debts (4,111) (3,261) - -
(a) 3,659 4,079 - -
Other receivables H bW SRIB 122 74 = -
Deposits and prepayments %% N FBAT 0B 2,011 5,345 - 100
Amount due from JrE U — ] B s
a related company YNGIE$E] () 7 29 — -
Amount due from R —REE
a substantial shareholder IR FKIB (e) - 1,000 - -
5,799 10,527 - 100
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be TERTFT A FEUE 5 AR 5% e B pE Uk
recovered within one year. FIE AR —FRUgE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. 85 R EEWIE (&)

Notes: Hiat -

(a) Ageing analysis (a) HRERDMT
Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables net of B5 N EMERZIESED IR RE
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$4,111,000 (2007: HK$3,261,000) BEAIEA 111,000 (CEE L4 -
with the following age analysis as of the balance sheet date: 3 261,0007T) 2 B S EMKEE R -

HWEERZRERDITT

The Group
rEME

2008 2007

—EEN\FE T HF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BMF T B FT
0-30 days TFE30H 3,180 2,378
31-90 days 31HZE90H 333 709
Over 90 days 90H M+ 146 992
3,659 4,079

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) EBEZEWRREHE

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an B S REWIE 2B EBIE A EE
allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that the recovery of the IRARR - MEMARERAKEZ SR

amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against ZFIREME R RIBR AN - REZBERT -
trade debtors directly. FEEE R E R E SRR UM

iH o
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts RS > B
The Group
rEE

2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT
At 1 April R A—H 3,261 1,473
Impairment losses recognised (note j) BERERB(EEE (B ati) 850 1,788
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 4,111 3,261
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

0

As at 31 March 2008, trade receivables of the Group amounting to
HK$4,111,000 (2007: HK$3,261,000) were individually determined
to be impaired and full provision had been made. These individually
impaired receivables were outstanding for over 150 days as at the
balance sheet date and related to customers that were in financial
difficulties and management assessed that only a portion of the
receivables could be recovered. Accordingly, specific allowances for
doubtful debts of HK$850,000 (2007: HK$1,788,000) were
recognised.

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy is set out in
note 6(a).

No cash deposits nor collateral had been placed by the related trade
debtors with the Group (2007: $Nil).

() Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are neither individually nor

collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

21. ES R EMEWRUE (&)

e - (48)

(b) EZEWTRRE @)

(0

RZZZ)\F=-A=+—H =K
SESRESE4,111,000T
(ZZZ+4F : 513,261,000
) 2B S EWFAD EREE
BRERDEHZHEE - %S
BB EEKIENEE AR S
HBRAF1508 BAE - 30 82 3R B
BREBEZ2EFEHR  mMERERN
BT BB IO EKREIE IR
B - At - RERFFEREBE
850,000 T (=TT H4F « AW
1,788,0007T) B TR ©

B S IENHUA R TR B HIERT30
E60RNEH - AEEEEBR
ZHE—AFEHNIE6() ©

1R E B A ALEAAEE
REEARS RS REN
R(CBBLE  BEET) o

() WEREEZESEWFR

W AR R e KRR 21 FIRELE
SRR Z BRI DTN

The Group
rEE

2008 2007
—sENE —ETrE
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT
Neither past due nor impaired R Ef B ARRE 3,180 2,378
Less than 1 month past due B ER DR —1E A 267 709
1 to 3 months past due mEl—Z=={AA 212 992
479 1,701
3,659 4,079
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

21. ES R EMEWRUE (&)

et - (&)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired (Continued) (0 WWEEZESERFIEE
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide REE B RFE 2 EWGIET %
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default. TEE RN B EPAR -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of A EEARRE 2 FE MR IE B % 47 B
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. NEBRBRIFEELS 2 Z BB
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment BEPEHE - BRBTLR  ARNEE
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been BERWESNEE) - BZFERIE
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered RAAZEKE - HEEEREEE
fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these PEBAEMRIELRERE - NEEIW
balances. B ZEERRAEAERRD -

(d) The amount represents the balance due from Star East Management (d) ZFEIEEUStar East Management
Limited (“Star East Management”). Limited ([Star East Management]) 378

2 HERR o
Mr. Wang Fei is the common director of the Company and Star East FREETIARAG KStar East
Management. The balance due from the related company is unsecured, ManagementZ HFEES - FEIETER
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. RIRE SR HEER  EB2 IR
o [E R o
(e) The amount represented licence fee income taken up by a substantial (e) ZFIEIEAARZEEZRESStrategic

shareholder of the Company, Strategic Media International Limited
("SMIL") on behalf of the Group which was unsecured, interest-free, and
repayable on demand.

Media International Limited ([SMIL]) £
RALEFTKELZ BB A © %308
TyEE - BB RS MIRERIEE -

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BeRBEEEEEH

The Group The Company
rEH ¥ NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTHF ZBENE —TTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BYEFrT BETfT  B%Fr  BETT
Cash at bank and on hand RITEFReR
FERS 565 2,026 16 1,228
Cash and cash equivalents meiEERBERRK
in the consolidated REREmER
balance sheet and PRz B & K&
the consolidated REFEER
cash flow statement 565 2,026 16 1,228
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EZ R EMENRRIE
The Group The Company
REH ARQF
2008 2007 2008 2007

—ERN\F —TTLF ZBEN\F ZTTLHF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
E®TT  BETrT  EETm  BETT

Trade payables (note (3)) g S e FRIE
(Ktat@)) 10,453 15,403 - -
Other payables (note (b)) H {th T 5RI8
(Bt&Eb) 25,397 31,119 3,641 4,510
Amount due to a substantial E—REERE
shareholder (note (c)) I8 (BEE () 4,663 - 1,745 -
Financial liabilities measured LABESHRK AT E 2
at amortised cost MBaE 40,513 46,522 5,386 4,510
(a) The following is an age analysis of trade payables at the (@) NEEH BHEMNFIEZER
balance sheet date: BT T
The Group
AEH
2008 2007
—BEENE —ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETFT BETIT

0-30 days T £30H 2,032 4,330
31-90 days 31HZ90H 1,380 1,637
Over 90 days 90H A E 7,041 9,436

10,453 15,403
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 23. E 5 R H MBI RRIE ()

(b) Including an amount of HK$441,000 (2007: HK$419,000) (b) BEEMN—RERAL (R
payable to an individual, who is a former individual B AR) 2 ;I 441,000
shareholder. The balance is unsecured, bearing interest at T(ZEZELF - BEK
7% (2007: 7%) per annum and repayable on demand. 419,0007T) ° &R BEK

B ASETE(CEELE
7E) st B REBRE -

(c) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (0 ZFENEERR BBREX
demand. REREE o

24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 24. RS BEEBBRMAYZ

SHEET FriS 8t
(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: (a) EEBEXRMYI ZBNHER
IHIg :
The Group The Company
%H £07
2008 2007 2008 2007

“EENE —TT+HF ZEENF —ZTT+HF
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BYFT BT B¥TFT BT

Provision for the year REERE

— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BAENGEH 591 2,968 - -
Provision for prior years BEFEREE

— Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ —&BF5H 11,683 7,993 184 185

12,274 10,961 184 185
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24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 24. RizEBEBBRAY2

SHEET (Continued) Fris#i (%)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRELEHEEER
8fE:
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities EHEBEERBRANBERZRIE
recognised in the balance sheet and the movements during BIE(BE) BB EKREH
the current and prior years are as follows: RARFERBEFEZ S
T
The Group rEE
Allowance
Accelerated  for bad and
tax doubtful Tax  Convertible
depreciation debts losses note Total
MERBHE  REREE RBERE  TRREE @t

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETIT BETTT BETT BETTT BETIT

At 1 April 2006 RoBEAEMA—R 3,963 (195) (3,768) 2,100 2,100
(Credit)/charge to consolidated ~ A& (EEE) /Hkh 5
income statement for the year ~ #34 IzEk (754) (376) 3,199 (1,955) 114
At 31 March 2007 i e
=R=1—H 3,209 (571) (569) 145 2,214
Charge to equity for the year ~ AFEHBEMRER - - - 3,928 3,928
(Credit)/charge to consolidated ~ AZE[E (8 H1F) /4% &
income statement for the year ~ FAMER (3,209) 571 569 (145) (2,214)
At 31 March 2008 RZEZNF
' =A=1—H - - - 3,928 3,928
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24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEET (Continued)

2. RiGREERBRMIZ
Fris®i (&)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(b) CEIELEHBEER

(Continued) aE: (@
The Company /N

Convertible
note
AR EE
HK$°000
BT T
At 1 April 2006 RZZEERFEOA—A 2,100
Credit to income statement for the year $$E$¢%§ Wz 7k (1,955)
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZ+F=A=+—H 145
Charge to equity for the year RELHRE 3,928
Credit to income statement for the year ~ AFEEBEF IR (145)
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZNEF=A=+—H 3,928

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain
deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

AHEERBERZIME  HTE
ERAEERBEDEE - A TS
SAEA TS B R R sk 2 IR AT IR A R D
i

The Group The Company
rEH ¥ YN

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE —TTtF ZEENE —TTLHF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BYEFTT BEFT BT  EEFT
Deferred tax assets FEIERIEE = 1,140 — -
Deferred tax liabilities EREFIEERE (3,928) (3,354) (3,928) (145)
(3,928) (2,214) (3,928) (145)
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24 RREEERBERMIIZ
Frigsi ()

24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEET (Continued)

() RERELEHIREE

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$819,250,000 (2007:
HK$775,221,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of HK$Nil (2007:
HK$3,251,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the amount of
HK$819,250,000 (2007: HK$771,970,000) tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the balance sheet date, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$2,682,000 (2007:
HK$2,682,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

REEHR - XEBBRBAH
5 ET184978%819,250,0007T
(ZE2EZE+F : B K
775,221,0007T) * A] LA S
RAE A + M AJ LA SR PR Rt 4%
o ZEERPBEET T (CZE
T4 B¥3,251,0000T) B
BRIELERIBEE - ARaETE
AIRIOHEFES - MRS
£75#819,250,0007T (Z T
+4F : B#771,970,0007T) 2
RIS BIERERIRERIBEE -

REEH - RRARIEREAH
EE1E48%2,682,0007C
(ZZZT+F : 5%2,682,000
J0) v ] AR B R R s A
I AT DA PR HAkb A58 - AR AE
TERIARFRFES - BURBEEZ
EEERRELEHRBEE °
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25. BORROWINGS 25. 8 &
The Group The Company
rEE b
2008 2007 2008 2007

“EENE —TT+HF ZEENF —ZTT+HF
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BYFT BT B¥TFT  EETIL

Loans from a substantial H—RZETBREZ
shareholder, unsecured (Notea) — fEIXIFE
(Ktzta) 103,164 91,190 103,164 91,190
Loans from related companies, B RE NG Z
unsecured (Note b) EIERER
(Ktztb) 7,186 6,790 5,821 5,506
Others HAtb
— Secured (note ¢) —HER Hitc) 14,928 - 14,928 -
— Unsecured (note d) — | (Matd) 103,122 78,558 52,946 40,474
228,400 176,538 176,859 137,170
Analysed as: DR -
Current e 42,455 12,410 31,045 11,000
Non-current JEMED 185,945 164,128 145,814 126,170

228,400 176,538 176,859 137,170
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25. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Interest of 1% over Hong Kong prime interest rate is charged on the
outstanding loan balance (2007: 1% to 4% over Hong Kong prime interest
rate) which is repayable on 1 September 2007. On 15 October 2007, the
substantial shareholder extended the loan repayment date to on or before
1 September 2008. In addition, the facility amount granted to the
Company was also increased from HK$48,000,000 to HK$120,000,000.
On 30 August 2008, the substantial shareholder further extended the
loan repayment date to on or before 31 December 2009.

The amounts represent the loans granted by companies with SMIL as a
common substantial shareholder. The amounts are unsecured, bearing
interest at Hong Kong prime interest rate per annum and are repayable
on the expiry of 30 calendar months after the year end of the first profitable
financial year since 24 January 2003 but no later than the twentieth
anniversary of 24 January 2003.

25. {5 & ()

it -

(a)

TEZN\EFEER e EXHREBERAT

RENE RSB TR BRI
BREFE (CTTLF  BLRER
FEM EZAE) *jf?%ﬁiﬁé::éiééiz
FLA—BEE RZZZTtF+A
+EHB - &Ixh%ﬂ BIEEBR
ERE—TTN\FAA—BZZA -
o BPARAZEBME S EN
HAE¥KA8,000,000 L NE B
120,000,0007T e RZZEZN\FNA=
TH  ZEZREFEREED S
—SEBEE_TTNF+_A=+—
A3z Al °

ZHBEESMILAREREZRFR 2 A H)
BYF2ER - ZREAERE - 15
TEERFHEFERBEH_TT=
F— A=A RS EERMRFE
FHEB30MEE B a2 - MR
A&EA-—ZST=F—A-_+HAR
FI-THEFER -
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25. BORROWINGS (Continued)

110

Notes: (Continued)

()

At 31 March 2008, the Group and the Company had other loans
amounting to HK$14,928,000 which bear a fixed interest of
HK$2,500,000 and are secured by a pledge by a substantial shareholder
of the followings:

- the benefits of all indebtedness due from the Company to the
substantial shareholder as mention in note 25(a)

- the 242,583,315 shares in the Company

The loan was originally repayable by six monthly instalments commencing
from March 2008. Subsequently, the Group and the Company defaulted
the repayment and HK$11,750,000 has been repaid to the lender up to
4 December 2008. The remaining balance of HK$5,750,000 was assigned
by the lender to a third party (“Assignee”) on 4 December 2008. Since
then, the balance of HK$5,750,000 due to the Assignee is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts mainly represent the loans of HK$69,925,000 (2007:
HK$66,148,000) granted by the former shareholders and their subsidiaries
and are unsecured, bear interest at Hong Kong prime interest rate per
annum and repayable on the expiry of 30 calendar months after the year
end of the first profitable financial year since 24 January 2003 but no
later than the twentieth anniversary of 24 January 2003.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had other loans of HK$27,527,000
(2007: HK$12,410,000) which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
within 1 year or on demand except for an amount of HK$3,225,000
(2007: HK$1,249,000) which bears interest at the rate of 2% to 3% per
month (2007: 2% per month).

The remaining amounts of HK$5,670,000 (2007: HK$nil), bear interest
at the rate of 1% to 2% per month, unsecured and repayable after 1
year but within 2 years except for an amount of HK$3,500,000 (2007:
HK$nil) which is interest free.
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25. 5 & (&)

ez - ()

()

RZTTENF=ZA=1+—H  ~&EH
EXRARBEBEEMERES
14,928,000t EEFEAE
#2,500,0007T * BRFE/REREMHZ
EHRTHSEEDER

—  HWER25()fTIt - AR FER
FERRZFAEENZ
—  ZK27]242,583,3 158D
ST N\F=ARENE
$%@&$ AIBEE AR
TNAFF+ZAMmA
1;&&%11 750,0007T °
TNF+ZAmAEE
ﬁéﬁ T4 \7%?555,750,0007E7"%:77_
(IZF|AD - Bt - ENZEAL
#475M65,750,000T HEKA - BESR
BRIZRERIEE -

u% HEZRARE R
75169,925,0007T (=
m%66,148 0007T) ZE#K jrtjﬁ%f&
- BRELREEFAEGTEREH
CEE=F A+ HHREREEEF
M IREEFA%RI0MEE AEREEE
B ENREREA-SE=F—A
—+rmERBH - TAEER -

HWE"?F
TAF

RZTENF=ZA=1+—H  ~&EH
A HEMEFB27,527,0007T (=8
THF  FE112,410,0007T) - BEEK
AR REAR-FRNRIRERE
‘1%;  MHEBHE3,225,000T (ZEE+

: 75 51,249,0000T) 2 FIEIEE A2

isﬁ(fqyti FBH2E)E
BIBRSN ©

715,670,000 (ZZZTHF : B
TN) 2 RBFERE A1 ER2ERT
B BBH3,500,000T (ZEE+
F AT BREIN Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ
IR AR —FRERERE
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26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 26. RIEHEAIE

At 31 March 2008, the Group had obligations under finance RZZEZENF=ZA=+—H &%

leases payable as follows: BB T ENmEFHEERE

The Group rEE
Total Present value of
minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments

BRERERELE RERERERE

2008 2007 2008 2007

—RENE ZTTLF ZBEN\E CZTTLH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BT  AETT  BETmT  EFTR

Within one year —FR - 152 - 150
In the second to fifth year indlusive ~FE-FEFERF
(BEEEME) - - - -
- 152 - 150
Less: Total future interest expenses & © & K Fl| 8 4458 - )
Present value of lease obligations ~ A EH&IEIR(E - 150
Less: Amount due for settlement  J& : R—FREIH
within one year (shown FEGIRRE
under current liabilities) =YE)) - (150)
Amount due for settlement —F1&IIHZ A

after one year - -

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its assets under finance REEZ BRANRERE UK

leases. The lease term is two to three years. All leases are on a MEETEE HEHR-_Z=

fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered F o FTEHEEHNEEENR TN

into for contingent rental payments. N BWEBL A S RIBET I E
Al °
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

112

Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 3 February 2005,
a convertible note (“the Note") was issued to SMIL, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, on 30 April 2005 which expired
on 29 April 2007. Holder of the Note has the right at any time
to convert all or part of the Note into shares of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$0.05 per share, subject to
adjustment. The rate at which interest is charged on the Note
is 1.5% per annum on the principal amount between the issue
date and the maturity date. Interest is payable by the Company
once every six months in arrears so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of charge for each accounting period.

The Company has the right at any time upon not less than
fourteen days' notice in writing to the Note holder to redeem
all or part of the outstanding principal amount of this Note.

On 13 May 2005, pursuant to Condition 11 of the Note, the
Company is considered to be in default due to two reasons:
(i) trading of the Company’s shares on the GEM was suspended
for a continuous period of more than ten business days on
each of which the GEM is generally open for trading; (ii) failed
to pay the Note holder interest accrued. The Note holder has
however agreed to waive all its rights to give notice demanding
immediate repayment of the principal amount of the Note,
interest accrued pursuant to Condition 11(a)(2) of the Note
regarding the continuous suspension of trading in the shares
on the GEM and Condition 11(f) of the Note regarding the
Company’s failure to pay the Note holder interest accrued and
interest payable between the date of issue of the Note and the
maturity date under Condition 3.1 of the Note.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008

27. AR ERE

RENR-_ZTRFE R =HFMYZ
A= - TREEER(ZREDR
—EERFHA=FTHBITTEAR
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B RERER AR B #0.057T2
BEE (A] TR K2R mlmnR
RERRARRNTIRL o RENET
B HAZE[ER A 2 A BIRFEN X
1558 » MEHARRE/EA
SR NEESEE M
W EEREZEHEM -

ARBBERARBERAARLE
EEMT DR TIMAR - BERED
SREHXMOAREELSHE -

R-ZEZRFRAT=H RER
BZARHBIME - ARRRRAE
# o RRE - (VAR mRDEE
TEZXB BIERRAELFR
HBE LARETEE) L ELERF
REIEREE : (WRZNRERFE
ANEEHE - A - REFEAR
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TIIFIRZ 2 HRRER - RIBASH
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued) 27. TR EE (&)

The fair value of the Note at 30 April 2005, the date of issuance
of the Note and 13 May 2005 approximated to the
corresponding carrying amount in accordance with valuation
reports prepared by an independent valuer.

On 19 November 2007, the Note holder exercised its discretion
to extend the maturity date of the Note from 29 April 2007 to
31 March 2008. Further on 31 March 2008, the Note holder
had further extended the maturity date of the Note to 31 March
2010. The Note had not been converted during the years ended
31 March 2008 and 2007.

The movement of the liability component of the Note for the
year is as follows:

R EMREZ HERE -

EER _TTERAFMOA=1THE
BZBETARR_ETAEFRA
tT=ZRZz AR BEERAEKREENR

++

Eo

RZZFZLHE+—A+NIA - BE
FAATEEREE  BREED
B —ZTEFMA-—TNAE
BE_TTEN\F=A=t—H -H
BR_ZENF=ZA=T—H &
BRA AE— SRR R E WA H
?t—%—%i:ﬂ:—l——ﬁ RE
REBE_TT\Fh_ZTTLF=
A=t HBLFEADRER -

EFRAEMOIREAIFEZEHN
T:

The Group and the Company

FEERFAT
2008 2007
ZBENF CTTtF
HK$°000 HK$'000

BETFT BETIT

ROA—HZz BB
MBFX

Liability component at 1 April

Interest charge

Gain on adjustment of amortised
cost of convertible note pdl &

Liability component at 31 March

{EERIRAZR 2 DT/

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current liability mBAE
Non-current liability FERBRE

TR AR AL SR AR B SR AR

=A=tT—RzaEHnm

49,005 37,541
11,201 11,464
(32,654) -
27,552 49,005
- 49,005
27,552 -
27,552 49,005
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued) 27. TR EE (&)
Interest expense on the Note is calculated using the effective EERETARE_TTAFAHA
interest method by applying the effective interest rate of T=B2ZHNERZEAERFERNE
19.64% per annum from the issue date to 13 May 2005, 19.64% R EREMEEFE - M=
28.50% per annum from 14 May 2005 to 29 April 2007 and EERFAATHRE=-ZTTLF
28.05% per annum from 30 April 2007 to 31 March 2008 for MAZTNABERRZEZLFMA
the liability component. =t+HEZEENF=A=+—H

BERMDZF RS BIFEAER
F%28.50% 5 28.05%:1 &

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28. EXR K f#E
(a) The Group (a) &EH
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FRARERRER
Convertible
Share Share  note equity Shareholders’ Merger  Exchange Distributable  Fair value Accumulated
capital  premium reserve  contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TEREE

Bx  RiEE  BEER  RREE  AKER  EXRE THORER LABERE  2EER ait
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKs'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B¥Tn E¥Tn BETm EMTn BTn B¥Tn BETn BkTn BRI

At 1 April 2006 RZFE FNA-A 49,584 127,764 16,432 72,894 121914 2,347 231,340 (133)  (767,794)  (145,652)
Exchange reserve realised KBABTEREAE
on deconsolidation of FRIERGA
a subsidiary - - - - - (2,304) - - - (2,304)
Change in fair value of AHEREL
available-for-sale MiERED
investments - - - - - - - 133 - 133
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - (104,845)  (104,845)
At 31 March 2007 RIEELE
ZA=t-A 49,584 127,764 16,432 72,894 121914 43 231,340 - (872,639)  (252,668)
At 1 April 2007 R-FELEMA-A 49584 127,764 16,432 72894 121914 3 231340 - (872639)  (252668)
Adjustment of amortised TRREEEAN AR
cost of convertible note - - 6,016 - - - - - - 6,016
Deferred tax liability on RELRREE
recognition of equity TRREE ERIR
component of convertible note - - (3,928) - - - - - - (3,928)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - (50,665) (50,665
At 31 March 2008 RISE)\F
ZA=1-A 49,584 127,764 18,520 72,89 121914 43 231,340 - (923304)  (301,245)
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 28. XK e (&)
(b) The Company (b) &AAF)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KATERRRELS
Convertible
Share Share  note equity Shareholders’ Distributable  Contributed Accumulated
capital premium reserve contributions reserve surplus losses Total
TEREE
e BAEE RifHE BRR4E TROKEE N4 2EER @zt

HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BB AR T BRI AR T EETL AR EETT ERTL

At 1 April 2006 NoFRERA-H 49,584 127,764 16,432 49,087 231,340 5589 (601,158 (121,362)
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - (68,171) (68,171)
At 31 March 2007 WoREtF=R=1-R 49,584 127,764 16,432 49,087 231,340 5589 (669329) (189,533
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEHERA-A 49,584 127,764 16,432 49,087 231,340 5580 (669,329)  (189,533)
Adjustment of amortised Blabiess b
cost of convertible note - - 6,016 - - - - 6,016
Deferred tax liability on BRELRAARTARRE
recognition of equity ZERTH
component of convertible note - - (3,928) - - - - (3,928)
Loss for the year FERE - - - - - - (28,499) (28,499)
At 31 March 2008 WoBEAF=R=1-R 49,584 127,764 18,520 49,087 231,340 5580 (697,828)  (215944)
(c) Authorised and issued share capital (c) ZERBEITRA
2008 2007
—BENE ZETLF
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
REAEA &8 BEE £
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T BEFT Fiz BETFT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of $0.05 each ~ ERREEER
0.057T2 ik 4,000,000 200,000 4,000,000 200,000
Ordinary shares, ERTRACEER:
issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2006, RZET FEA—-H -
31 March 2007 TE+FE=A=1-H
%

and 31 March 2008 RZETN\F

A=t—H 991,686 49,584 991,686 49,584
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Ejggiﬁ% MT.I- H BE_FFT/\FZHA=+—HIFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 28. EX K f#E (&)

(c) Authorised and issued share capital (Continued) (c) ZFERBCRITIRA (&)

EBERBEARREEBTEE
RZBE - B EERRNTZ
REERBEERNERS —F&
2 - FTAEBBEELARA]Z

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets. FeprEEMSHERREHE
>,

(d) HEHEERAR

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

() B#HEE

(i) Share premium

BiraEREAXAE
BHERRAEE -

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Acts of the Cayman
Islands.

Under the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands, BERASHEARNE K
the funds in the share premium account of the NRARNBEERZERA
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the HO R TARBIRRE - 1
Company provided that immediately following the REREREZDIKREE

date on which the dividend is proposed to be & RNARIABRENEE
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay HRAEEBAEFR D

off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of vy
business.
(ii) Convertible note equity reserve (i) AR EEERFEE

116

The convertible note equity reserve of the Group
represents the value of the unexercised equity
component of convertible notes issued by the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible note in
note 4.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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/E\Zl-igiﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FTF)\F=A=+—HILFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 28. EAXK il (&)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

Shareholders’ contribution

Shareholders’ contribution represents the waiver of
loans from shareholders during the year ended 31

(d) REHEERRAZR @)

(iii)

REREE

BREBRRHE-TT
“HFZA=-t+—HLFE

March 2003. NHARRBERRZER
(iv) Merger reserve (iv) &Pt

(v)

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the share capital and share premium of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation set out in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 May 2000 (“"Group
Reorganisation”), over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange

(v)

REE 2 & HiEFERERE
RRATR_ZZZFHA
“t=ZRTHEZERER
FolzEEEH([REE
A1) P B B A R 2 B
AR R B An i (B E A BT T
ZARBIRADEERZ Z
B o

BE 5 18

IS R BB ERINE

differences arising from the translation of the financial %2 SRR FIE £ 2 P
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt BHNEZRE - BRI
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out RIBEWE4FTE 2 5T
in note 4. RERIE -

(vi) Distributable reserve (vi) AIED IR

Distributable reserve represents the surplus arising
from cancellation of paid-up capital upon the
reduction of the nominal value of every issued shares
from HK$0.10 to HK$0.0025 during the year ended
31 March 2003.

A D IR EEEREZE =
TE-F=ZA=1+—HIt
FEBEREZTRMDZ
EEREE0.10TTHIEE
7#60.0025 T ML SHELR
IRANFREEE 2 B8R ©

TEZN\EFEER e EXHREBERAT
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/E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 28. EA R f#E (&)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (d) #FEMHERBAZE (@
(vii) Fair value reserve (vii) AR EERE
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net AR EERERRERGESR
change in the fair value of available-for-sale equity ARAAIHEERAES
securities held at the balance sheet date and is dealt ZARBEEE ZFHF
with in accordance with accounting policy in note 4. B WREMNT4 285
ORI -
(viii) Contributed surplus (viil) A B8R
The contributed surplus of the Company represents RARZBABBRIERR
the difference between the book value of the AR IR S B = A PSS B
underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by BArz HREERER
the Company under the Group Reorganisation and EEEFWEEEETZ
the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued RARIRMHEERZZE
for the acquisition. B o
(e) Distributability of reserves (e) EEDEM
At 31 March 2008 and 2007, the Company has no reserves RZZBENFR_ZBZTLF=
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the A=+—8  AArRHERE
Company. AJED IR F AR RESARR
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Ejggiﬁ% MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 28. EAXK il (&)

(f) EXEE

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
level of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net debt to equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings
as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as "equity”, as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

The net debt to equity ratio did not apply as at 31 March
2008 and 2007 as the Group had total deficit for both
years. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new
debt financing or sell assets to reduce existing debt.

AEBEEEERACHRZRRTS
RIEERNE B RSV BIR BB
RERERE MBS RR
REEHE R S A AR A
AN TR REZE
REBABIEE SR -

AR ETEE N E Bt KB
HERZERE  NERSRERED
WERTAREHEZESEE
IKFERR 4 2 BRI Z
0F BR N ARFE 2 ARG 1 - 3
REEEIRE c BBUE R
BIELAE -

RERE A BHF R G S R
REEEFEGNRGE - kL
RIREFFEIR AR E ARG
8- B FRREIEE (B
RAEERBERMTZRB R
FRBEBE)RERELRE
FEBBE - FEXRGE
BERMBRMRZ [t
ER5FERRTE

R-BZN\ER_TTLEFE=
A=t B EERERFH
YRR - RN AEE
R % 8 FE G815 B AL 4
B o RERREBIL R A%
B PR E AR RN R EZ
TR BITHARD - RARRR
BEN BENEBRMESLL
EEENRDRBET -
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/E\Zl-igiﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 29. MEHRERERMWE

STATEMENT
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (a) HEMBATE
For the year ended 31 March 2007 BE-_ZEZtLtF=A=+—H
LHFE
On 8 November 2006, the Group disposed of its entire RZZEZXRF+—HANB - K
equity interest in Tech Merit Limited (“Tech Merit”) for a EE LA 500,000 TR(E
consideration of HK$500,000 to an independent third EHMWTech Merit Limited
party. Tech Merit hold 80% equity interest in 1t AP E ([Tech Merit)) z 2= &BR%#E T
GBBEREERAR. —HBEILE =75 ° Tech Merit
FELRPHIEEREER
7180 % AEHE °
The details of net liabilities disposed of at the date of RHERBMEE 2 BEFE
disposal were as follows: EIFCNE
HK$°000
BT
Net liabilities disposed of FrHEZEEFH
Trade and other payables B 5 R HE M ERFIE (76)
Amount due to the Group JER AR B RIR (4,709)
(4,785)
Amount due from subsidiary written off JrE LB BB B SR 8 4,709
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZ W= 576
Consideration RE 500
Satisfied by: St
Consideration receivable FEW AR ERIR 500
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HEMBARIZRE R
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReFBEER 2R FE -
The results of the subsidiaries disposed of during the year REBE_TT+F=-HA=*+—
ended 31 March 2007 have no significant impact on the AIEFEFREEZHMB AR Z
Group’s turnover or loss from operations before taxation FEHAEEREE_TT L
for the year ended 31 March 2007. F=A=T—HIEFEzE*
SR A EB BT mE X
2 o
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Ejggiﬁ% MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

29. ZERERERMEE &)

(b) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

(b) HBARTBEE AR

For the year ended 31 March 2007

The Group had 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, 7
BHEAREBROBERAR ("RABHEM"). The
directors of the Company con5|dered RS E was
in the process of liquidation and the Company were

&I—? vtﬁ H —I_ H
HEFE

AEBRKBRARR B NE
AR AR AR ([R5
ﬁiéfm)%ﬁmo%ﬁﬁg PN

NAEER %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁm&

therefore unable to exercise control over the financial and
operating decisions of 5 JJ&&l. They were also
unable to obtain access to the books and records and the
supporting documents. The directors of the Company
considered they had lost control over % 5 /1 & &l and
have deconsolidated 5 75 £ /1 & &f with effect from 1 April

TE% - Btk - AAAEReE

%E%ﬂﬁiﬂzﬁﬁkﬁﬁ“‘%&
R EITIEEGIE - MEIEE
EREIERRM - A28 RFEAX
e ARRAESZRR  KFS
KRERFBNEM 2 EHIRE -

2006. M4 IE R TT 8 B AR A A
FR-ZETNFHA—HEE
R o
HK$'000
BT T
Net assets deconsolidated comprise BEEFEITBLHREAERBRE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EH M EIGRIR 73
Bank balance and cash RITHESBR LR ® 6
Amount due to the Group JER AR ERIR (30,297)
(30,218)
Amount due from subsidiary written off JRE LS B B ZRIE M SH 30,297
Exchange reserve realized ME A IR (2,304)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary B AR T HLERE AR WS 2,225

MEBARTBGEAE ARMELZ
ReMReFERBMBFE
MEBARTBEAE ARZRE (6)

R MReFEERRLFE (6)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
arising on deconsolidation of a subsidiary:
Cash of a subsidiary deconsolidated

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

The subsidiary deconsolidated did not have significant cash RZZEZEL+F=A=1+—HIt
flows attributable to the Group during the year ended 31 FEAM B AR TBEgE AR
March 2007. WEHAEBELEAEBRTR

=
E-°
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,E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- E BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 30. & HERE
At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum lease payments RZZEZENF=ZA=1+—H 1B
under operating leases are payable as follows: KERE RN 2 R R RIEAEFIE
mEamn
The Group
TEE
Office premises Machinery
WAEYE kS
2008 2007 2008 2007

—ERN\F —TTLF ZBRN\F —TTLHF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETRT  BETT  EETr  BETRT

Within one year —FR 4,034 3,129 399 398
In the second to E_FEZERF
fifth year inclusive (BIREREMF) 3,152 1,294 199 597
7,186 4,423 598 995
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEREFIREAREE g A T
Group for certain of its office premises and machinery. Leases RNEYERMEEN 2 HE - K5
are negotiated for an average term of three years and rentals METZHANFHTEIR=F " M
are fixed throughout the lease period. HERNEEET -
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Ejggiﬁ% MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 31. R &£E UKD AER >
x5

On 15 January 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Option Scheme”) under which the board of
directors of the Company may at its discretion offer to any
director (including non-executive director), executive, employee
and contracted celebrity (the “Eligible Persons”) of the Group
options to subscribe for shares in the Company in accordance
with the terms of the Option Scheme and Chapter 23 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. The principal purposes of the Option Scheme are to
recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible Persons
to the growth of the Group. The total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Option Scheme and any other outstanding share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
approval of the Option Scheme by the Shareholders and such
limit might be refreshed by the shareholders of the Company
in general meetings. The Option Scheme commenced on 15
January 2002 and will end on the day immediately prior to the
tenth anniversary of 15 January 2002. The share options vested
immediately at the time when granted.

The Company did not grant any share options under the Option
Scheme during the year.

R-ZEZT_F—HA+hHH  XAF
R — IR AR 8 (TR AckEst
2 - REZEE - ARBEFEE
ARBRIAES (BRIFRTE
=) 1THRAER - BEMAKHEA
HBA(BERALD RHRERE
PR T B 165K e Bt 52 T Bl 6 AR 8 55
EAARRE23E A BB AR
ZIBRHE - BBIERTE 2 X ER Y
REREEBALTHAEEER Y
EXRR - TTERRIEBEAE 8 N
AR A2 ARV EL At 15 R SE A RS AR
AHEIR PR A B ERS A 38T 2
BAn BT SRR A BN B
AHEERCRILE 2 B2 B #ITH
RZ10% - MRS AT RER AR A
SHARBIRRER o BAERTE
R-ZFZ-_F—-ATHBRBER
ER_ZTT_F-ATHBRTEF
AIE A 5Ths o BEARIER X i IR
BIRS 157 -

FARR R ERIE I B
HAEREE AR -

TEZN\EFEER e EXHREBERAT
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/E\Zl-igiﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 31. BREZELUBHAER >

(Continued) R5 (&)
The following table discloses details of the Company’s share TREBHEE_TTEF=-A=+
options held by the directors, employees and contracted —BIEFERNAEEES - EER
celebrities of the Group and movements in such holdings during BRBANFE 2R A BRI R &
the year ended 31 March 2007: EERERBBRZEE -
Outstanding/ Outstanding/
exercisable exercisable
Name or Exercise balance Granted Exercised Lapsed balance
category of Exercisable price as at during during upon as at
participant Date of grant  period per share 1/4/2006 the year the year resignation  31/3/2007
R-ZRAE R-BLE
mA-H =A=t-H
SHRELR ®T6E/ FTHE/
R BEAH TESH BRITEE  ATELR FERFH ERiTHE  BERAN  TIELEH
HK$
BET
Employees 13/8/2003 13/8/2003 to 0.395 9,651,600 - - 9,651,600 -
in aggregate 12/8/2013
EEEH —ZT=F —ZT=F 0395 9,651,600 - - 9,651,600 -
NA+=AH NA+=ZHZ
T
NA+ZBZE
No share options were outstanding at 31 March 2008 and RZEBENFR_ZFTLF=A=
2007. +— A BB R AT
As all grants of share options vested on or before 1 January MRTEBRER_ZSZTRF—A
2005 and accordingly, no adjustment is made in the Group’s —HZAEEE - Bt - A%
financial statements pursuant to the transitional provisions as &2 B Sk R I AR IR A I
set out in HKFRS 2. EERNZE25% 2 BIE RFRIEL 38
.
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/E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FTF)\F=A=+—HILFE

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 32. BRIKERIFTEI

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other obligation for the payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions described above.

The total cost charged to consolidated income statement of
HK$1,621,000 (2007: HK$2,403,000) represents contribution
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current
accounting period. As at 31 March 2008, contributions of
HK$5,017,000 (2007: HK$2,560,000) due in respect of the
current and prior reporting period had not been paid over to
the schemes.

REBERBEEBERGERERETE
G0 BEAR BB BEFEEOIE RLE
R NEER 2 B B s TR
SEFE|([RFEEFTE)) - BESET
ZIRBEEABEEEHIURIK
FTEl - BIFRTESHE - BEERE
EESBEZEERBRAZSY%
METEIMHR - B ARBKRAZ LR
A 75#20,0007T © 5182 fFRENER
SR -

B _EXCRrat 2 RN - AREE I &
Hib EEXRKERER -

Rira W EmZNR 2 BERREAE
1,621,000 (ZZFEZTLF : &
#2,403,0007T) T8 A T A AN
SEMZETEIEMN MK - R
TENFZA=+—H  AEEL
KRIABBEET B ATRIR R SR R
AR PR 2 58 #5,017,000
T (ZZEZLF : #%2,560,000
JT) °
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,E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- E BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

126

There were several cases brought forward from prior years
related to defamation and infringement of copyright that
remained unresolved. All of them were brought against Sing
Pao Newspaper Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group. Court judgments have not been stated and the
amounts claimed were in aggregate totaling to approximately
HK$517,000. In the directors’ opinion, the liabilities are unlikely
to crystallize and no provision had therefore been made in
respect of these claims.

During the year, the Group and the Company have received
various claims in relation to default payments including
mandatory provident fund contributions of HK$3,616,000,
salary of HK$4,786,000, payment of provision of goods and
services of HK$1,537,000, annual listing fee of HK$300,000
and penalty for delay in mandatory provident fund contributions
payment of HK$69,000 etc. All of the balances have been
properly accounted for in the financial statements.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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BAEFERERAMRFEEEE Y
ATHSEILRERHTEFHE
R FTEZERHIHEAEE Y
2 EMWBARKIRFTIERAFIE
o SEEEHIRERET - MREL
LA HAAEES17,0000T - BE
RE - BERVARL Bt &
AR ERRELEE -

FRN - ARERARREESZIER
B RFIACBR - BIERFIMA
e HIEE3,616,0000T ~ FHe
7E¥4,786,0007T ~ ERRIEE R
AR7% 2 M58 ¥ 1,537,0007T k=
MEBB300,0007T M ITE X fF
SR HIME AR S RS HUE 69,000
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Ejggiﬁi MT.I- H BE_FFT\FZHA=+—HIFE

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 33. AEE (@)
In addition, in July 2007, a licensee of Sing Pao Newspaper BoN - RZZEZLF LR - AKE

Company Limited (“SPNCL"), a subsidiary of the Group, acts
as the defendant in a legal claim in relation to an action for
copyright infringement, issued a third party notice to SPNCL.
The defendant claimed against SPNCL for indemnity against
the plantiff's claims and the costs of the action or contribution
in respect of the plantiff's claims. A defence was filed by the
Group on March 2008 denying all allegations against the
Group. Judgment has not been stated up to 5 February 2009.
In the directors’ opinion, the liabilities are unlikely to crystallize
and no provision had therefore been made in respect of the
claim.

Further on 18 December 2007, a supplier of the Group has
appointed an arbitrator in relation to a trade dispute with
SPNCL, for the early termination of a purchase contract in July
2007 and the unpaid goods provided to the Group for the
years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008. The supplier claimed a
sum of HK$7,468,000 (2007: HK$5,506,000) against the
Group for compensation. The application had been withdrawn
by the applicant on 26 July 2008 and the arbitrator had also
ceased to act as the arbitrator on 28 July 2008. On 1 August
2008, SPNCL reached an agreement with the supplier pursuant
to which SPNCL agreed to settle the unpaid goods of
HK$341,000 and the related arbitration costs of HK$ 114,000
as full and final settlement of the claim. The amounts were
settled in December 2008.

B & A R R T A R A ) (TR
BH AR 25BN (TERRILHR
BFDEBERBPRP IS
AN) RIRERBR T AR EHE =758
o 1E ARBRERRTA B E
REANZHEREREBEREARRZ
AR IEEABRREE - &
SEER-_ZZENF=AFLR
W DRMAMYHAKE 5 -
ERRMBZ_TTNF_HAAH
RAERHR - BEZRG - BER
WERRE(L - R AR B R RIE
R -

HER—_TTLtF+-A+N\H "
Rpal—REERFE 2 EEAD
ZEMFRBA - SHSRERBRTIA
AR+ FLARERILEE
BHUEREE_EEL+FER—F
ENFZA=ZT—HILFERASE
B R HEm o HER R
EEFRERAERET,468,0000T (=&
T4 ¢ BEE5,506,0007T) 1EARS
& - BREPFBER T /\FtA
ZHNBEBEBARE - mAREA
NMERZZTEENFLA-FTNABT
BETHBA - R_ZZT/N\F/)\A
—B - KRRTIA R R EK
ek - Bt - KRBT ARRES
AN FZEREE341,0007T K% 48
BB A B114,000T © 1EA
ERRR TR RTEER - B
HEER_ZZENF+_A%NT -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BEALERS

Name of related parties Relationship

BEALER @&

Mr. Li Rong Wei Former individual shareholder of the Company

Li Rong Wei%t 4 AR BAHEA MR

SMIL A substantial shareholder of the Company

SMIL ARAREERR

Star East Management Mr. Wang Fei is the common director

RABNER IREERRAES

SMI Corporation Limited Mr. Qin Hong is the common director and SMIL
("SMI Corporation”) is the common substantial shareholder

ExXBREBEBR AR BREFER/HRESE - MSMIL
(TE<BERER]) A AHRFEERER
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,E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- E BE—FTF)\F=A=+—HILFE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3. BEALTR G (@)

(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the () BRIBIHS R E MR #FE <
financial statements, the Group also entered into the RSN - FAREEIRETLIA
following related party transactions during the year. TREALTRS °

The Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENE —TTtHF
HK$000 HK$°000
BT T BT
Interest expenses on amount  FE&{JLi Rong WeisL &5 IE 2
due to Mr. Li Rong Wei R RS - 21
Interest expenses on loan BSMILZERZ
from SMIL M BRI 7,008 7,948
Interest expenses on loan BRABNEBZERZ
from Star East Management B 82 91
Interest expenses on loan BEXEREEZERZ
from SMI Corporation B 314 346

During the year, 242,583,315 shares of the Company
owned by SMIL were pledged for loan facilities granted to
the Company. The pledged shares were released on 4
December 2008 (see note 25 (c)).

FR - ASMILEEA 2 ANA 7]
242,583,315 D EEAZA
NAVERTERBE 2 I -
EREFROHER=_ZZNF
+-—RAMBE®KR (Wi
25(c)) °

CTTN\EER . EXEHREIARAT 129



Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

,E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬂ- E BE—FT)\F=A=+—HILFE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3. BEAEIR S (B

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) TEEEAEME
Remuneration for key management personnel of the rEEXZEBAEMEBE
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors XA FARRES (WHFE2
as disclosed in note 12 and certain of the highest paid e ke TaaEES (W0
employees as disclosed in note 13 is as follows: By EE13ATHRER) 2 BIAMN T ¢

The Group
rEH
2008 2007
—EBENE —ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$°000

BETT BETIT

Salaries and other short-term e MEM R ER
employee benefits B BN 2,614 5,018
Retirement scheme contributions — ERET 2430 60 54
2,674 5,072
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see MeBBEE st ATE TRA]RN
note 9(b)). (R HIzE90b)) °
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3. BEALTR G (@)

(c) Amount due from/(to) related parties (o) B () BEEALRE
The Group The Company
A58 #273
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007

ZEEN\FE _—TT+F ZBENF _—TTLF
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BYTT BT BETT  BETI

Star East Management ~ RABEHERE (i) 7 29 = -
(i) (1,365) (1,283) - -
SMIL SMIL (i) & (ii) (4,663) 1,000 (1,745) -
(i) (103,164) (91,190)  (103,164) (91,190)
Mr. Li Rong Wei Li Rong Wei4t 4 (iii) = (419) = -
SMI Corporation EXFREE (ii) (5,821) (5,507) (5,821) (5,506)
Notes: et -
(i)  The amounts are included in “Trade and other receivables” in the () ZRELFAGEEEBERM
consolidated balance sheet and details of the terms and conditions 52 85 REMMEYGRIE]A -
of the amounts due are disclosed in note 21. i B BRFRIE 2 IR R AR B R

PMIEF214% 58 -

(i) The amounts are included in “Borrowings” in the consolidated (il ZRECFAGEEEAERF
balance sheet and details of the terms and conditions of the loans Nz MEEIR - MERZER R
are disclosed in note 25. IR FFIB M 25 ©

(i) The amount is included in “Trade and other payables” in the (iiy A ALZEEBEABRM
consolidated balance sheet and details of the terms and conditions 2B S REMBNKIEIA -
of the amount due is disclosed in note 23. B BAFRIE 2 IR RS RE B R

BiiaT234 5% -
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35.

36.

132

PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

At 31 March 2008, the directors consider the parent and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be SMIL, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. This entity does not
produce financial statements available for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group have the following significant events
after the balance sheet date need to be disclosed:

(@) The Group has received the following claims in relation to
default payment subsequent to the balance sheet date:

On April 18 2008, a winding up petition was filed by two
corporations against SPNCL in the High Court of HKSAR
(the “High Court”) in relation to the unpaid goods and
services provided during the years ended 31 March 2006
and 2007 of approximately HK$650,000. The amount has
been properly accounted for in the financial statements
and was settled on 25 June 2008. The action was dismissed
on 30 June 2008.

In April 2008, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority applied to the High Court to claim for default
contributions of HK$731,000 for the period from October
2007 to December 2007. The amounts have been properly
accounted for in the financial statements and were fully
settled in April 2008.

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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36. #EHREE

CYN
5
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(a)

IR EME D REE
RAEEBRASEERE T
RER:

REFRR - NEBWEIAT
BRBRNRZER

RZZEZN\FOA+N\B W
BAFTMEBEE ST EN_
EEHF-A=+—HILEE
R RELHERERBEL
B ¥650,0007T © [MIBEB R
BEER (5 AR IREE
BRRTIA R ZEBERE ° %
FIBCEE AT A HRE
A TER_EENF XA
THAERER - BEFASHRZ
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RZZTZEN\FEA - &fllER
BerrEEERR e E AR A
FHIZEZTLFTAZE-ZZ
+FE+Z AHREZ R
/%/%%31 0007 ° &% KEE

mﬁx%%ﬁ%m e
ﬁ TN\FOAZHEE -



Notes to the Financial Statements ro: e eor ended 31 werch 2008

/E\Zl-igiﬁ% Bﬂ- %I BE—FTF)\F=A=+—HILFE

36. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

In July 2008, Sing Pao Newspaper Assets Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, was claimed by the
Commissioner of Inland Revenue for outstanding income
tax for the years of assessment 2002/03 to 2005/06 of
approximately HK$7,863,000. The Company lodged an
objection against assessments demanding final tax for the
years of assessment 2002/03 to 2005/06 and the tax was
held over unconditionally by the Inland Revenue
Department due to the objection was under consideration.
The amounts have been properly accounted for in the
financial statements and the balance remains outstanding
up to 5 February 2009.

On 6 October 2008, a winding up petition was filed by a
corporation against SPNCL in the High Court in relation
to the unpaid services provided during the years ended
31 March 2006 and 2007 of approximately HK$180,000.
The amounts of HK$ 165,000 has been properly accounted
for in the financial statements and a balance of
HK$140,000 was settled up to 16 October 2008. The
remaining balances were waived by the petitioner.

36. &5 E H&XEE (&)

(a)

(&)

RZZTZENFEH - A&l
BARIKSHRTIEERRAR]
WRHERRER_EZ =
T _TTHTRRBE
EZHEAZMABERL B
7,863,000 FRE  ANAA]
M_TE- E-F_FTH
S ERNRBREE 2 &R KR
RITFRERE - BARBER
DEZEEBARE® - BUET
R EGM RS - Z5ER
HEMET AMBBEREKRA - e
E_BENF-ARBEHE
RIBR ©

RZEZTNF+AHRE  —fH
NAFEHEZE_EEFR_F
T+FEZA=+—HIEFER
M2 REZHRB LB
180,000t ' MmE AR
HRBHARZEEREE -
75¥165,000L . IBEEE
HEFAMBSHREAN  MBE=
TZZENFF+ AT B BE
140,000 0 2 &% E TEE
BTEHREEZFBARE -
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

134

(Continued)

(b) On 23 April 2008, the Company entered into a loan

agreement with Billion Wealth Group Limited (“Billion
Wealth”), an independent third party whereby Billion
Wealth agreed to extend to the Company a loan facility
of up to the aggregate principal sum of HK$60,000,000.
The loan is interest free and the Company shall repay the
loan in full on the date falling on the expiry of 24 months
from the date on which the loan is made or any other
later date as may be mutually agreed in writing by the
Company and Billion Wealth.

As a security for the Company’s performance of its
repayment obligations under the loan agreement, the loan
facility is secured by the following:

(i) the 261,473,945 shares of the Company held by SMIL;

(i) the assignment by SMIL to Billion Wealth of all the
rights, title and benefits in the shareholders’ loan due
to SMIL by the Company (hote 25(a)); and

(iii) the assignment by SMIL to Billion Wealth of all the
rights, title and benefits in the convertible note issued
by the Company to SMIL (note 27).

SMI Publishing Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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(b)

RZZEZENFHA=+=H"
ANAEBIZE=FBillion
Wealth Group Limited ([Billion
Wealthl) 573 —TEER %
It - Billion Wealth[R & [A) 4%
RAEA—EHEZREEAS
HBE %70 E%60,000,000
TL e BERBRE - MAREIA
R E B E Bt m241E A
& H sl A2 &) MBillion Wealth
A B MEEERE 2 E R EA
RIEHERBEZER -

ERARFEITEREN G H
BT ZEFEEZRE  BEX
BE A IS IREA

) SMILEEAEZARFA
261,473,945R% A% ¢
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 36. mE HRSHE (8)

(Continued)

() On 30 April 2008, the Company entered a loan agreement (0 RZZEZNFMA=+H" XK
with SMIL agreed to extend to the Company a loan facility RAESMILE] I —IEE R H
of up to the aggregate principal sum of HK$40,000,000. #F o B SMILRIERARAR]
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable in BEA-—HERREEARESB
full on the date falling on the expiry of 24 months from T2 A7 #40,000,0007T ° #%
the date on which the loan is made or any other later FEREER BEERE I
date as may be mutually agreed in writing by the Company AR B KB B R M 241E
and SMIL. A& R QT MSMILA g

HERRBZ EAEMERRE
HIZRBUEE -

37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. LEBEF

As a result of adopting HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: MR ERAE BT Bl EERE795R
Disclosures, and the amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of (&R TH : #E] RES2H%EL
financial statements: Capital disclosures, certain comparative FURERT [MBmREx 225 A
figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in BABE] & THREFE TR
disclosures in the current year and to show separately B UHEAFERE2E - I
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first R_ET N\FEAEEZEB B
time in 2008. Further details of these developments are BB EHE  ZERR2E—F
disclosed in note 3. ELE N DR RE

In addition, certain comparative figures have been restated or BEAN - BT BB FE FEIRE
reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation. ok UARERFEZZMA

= o
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RESULTS ¥E

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—-HLHFE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—TTMFE —TTRF —TTRE —TTHHFE ZBENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT  BETT  BETT BT

Turnover BER 116,882 108,696 84,051 67,754 48,558
Cost of sales SHERAR (149,469)  (147,437)  (129,331)  (101,356) (69,022)
Gross loss BIEEHE (32,587) (38,741) (45,280) (33,602) (20,464)
Other revenue and net income H s RN F 58 3,782 2,484 3,685 3,067 37,387
Distribution costs BATRAR (10,357) (18,555) (2,691) (2,162) (617)
Administrative expenses THRX (53,916) (39,371) (40,635) (37,062) (40,470)
Impairment losses recognised, net 2R E B 12358 (1,764) - (828) (1,788) (850)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of HEKB QA

subsidiaries (B518) /W (4,913) - - 576 =
(Loss)/gain on deconsolidation of ~ Fi{B A B THELZE A

a subsidiary 2 (B18) /Wi - - 9) 2,225 =
Unrealised (loss)/gain BHIEZAERE

on investments in securities (E518) /Izs 250 (16) - - =
Loss on disposal of HEMHNEREEE

available-for-sale investments - - - (232) -
Loss from operations EEEBE (99,505) (94,199) (85,758) (68,978) (25,014)
Finance costs BITE AR (3,882) (4,746) (15,733) (24,213) (26,413)
Share of result of an associate DME—FHME A RES (496) (1,755) (866) (579) (138)
Loss before taxation BrEiRIEE (103,883)  (100,700) (102,357 (93,770) (51,565)
Income tax BT - - 1,385 (11,075) 900
Loss for the year FEBE (103,883)  (100,700)  (100,972)  (104,845) (50,665)
Attributable to:— THANLFE : —

— Equity shareholders of —ARAIRERERER

the Company (103,865) (100,692) (100,972) (104,845) (50,665)
- Minority interests —DERREER (18) (8) - - =

(103,883)  (100,700)  (100,972)  (104,845) (50,665)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—AH
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
“FEMF —FTTRF —TTAF —TTLF -BENF
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT B¥TrT  BETT  BEFR

Total assets BEBE 122,149 81,705 49,893 32,722 11,422
Total liabilities BiELE (106,198)  (142,737)  (195,545)  (285,390)  (312,667)
Minority interests DERR R (8) - - - -

15,943 (61,032)  (145,652)  (252,668)  (301,245)
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